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ST. JOHN THE BAPTIST CHURCH (DIXIE) 

 

ANNUAL VESTRY MEETING 

Sunday March 6, 2022 

 

Father Daniel Brereton opened the meeting with a prayer at 11:20a.m.   

(86 people attended) 
 

The motion was made to have Lori Corbett appointed Vestry clerk for the meeting. 

Motion:  Moved by Barbara Kane, seconded by Susan Finlay, that Lori Corbett be appointed 

Vestry Clerk. 

All in favour.  Carried 

 

Father Daniel Brereton announced that anyone not pre- registered for vestry to please see Lori to 

be put on the attendance list.  He also asked that when asking a question either on- line or in person 

to announce your name for the record.  

 

Minutes of the last Vestry Meeting – February 28, 2021, were printed and circulated.  

Motion:  Moved by Lori Corbett, seconded by Alvin Blackman that the minutes be accepted as 

presented.       

All in favour.   Carried 

 

Minutes of the Special Vestry Meeting – October 3, 2021, were printed and circulated.  

Motion:  Moved by Lori Corbett, seconded by Ethel Reid that the minutes be accepted as 

presented.       

All in favour.   Carried 

 

Father Daniel explained that the special vestry was held to give signing authority to both Sandra 

Aguilar and Lori Corbett to have them both produce online payments to utilities and for Sandra 

more importantly the Guaranteed Fund for Pre-Needs.  The bank made us do all this to then tell us 

that it was not possible due to our two-signature policy.  

 

Father Daniel asked if the reports of the Incumbent, Music Director, Wardens, and Cemetery Chair 

had been read and if there were any questions regarding any of the reports.  No questions asked.  

 

Father Daniel took this opportunity to explain further his discussions with the bishop, regarding 

his leave of absence later in the year.  He explained the difference between a sabbatical and leave 

of absence.  That calling it what it was would not only benefit him but the church as well.  This 

would be in the time frame that is offered and financially not as draining on the church.  The 

diocese would assist with a replacement physically and financially.   He also explained that it 

would mean that the diocese could possible long into whether Fr. Daniel is a good fit for St. Johns 

and if St Johns should consider assistance in the ministry.  Fr. Daniel explained that he didn’t want 

to start right away as he felt responsible to see vestry and Easter through with everyone.  He is 

hoping to be gone for the summer months mostly.   

 

Father Daniel asked if the parochial letters of the Diocesan Bishop and the Synod Report had been 

read and if there were questions regarding these reports. Fr. Daniel expressed his appreciation to 

both Bobby Briones and Barbara Kane for attending the Synod online, which can be much more 

difficult than in person. No questions asked. 

 

Thelma Carter wanted to express thanks on behalf of the congregation for all the work that went 

into the reports and to Fr. Daniel for his guidance during this very difficult year for all of them. 

She also wanted to wish him well during his possible upcoming leave of absence.   



        

 

Cemetery 2021 Financial Reports: - Marcia McCann (auditor from McCann and Roque CA) 

 

1. Marcia started the cemetery financial report by stating that it was a very busy difficult 

year at the cemetery.  While it was a busy year it held tremendous financial growth as 

well for the cemetery. 

2. The cemetery had approximately 4000 cremations in the last fiscal year.  

3. Marcia stated that the previous year of 2020 had seen a lower burial plot sale amount, and 

thought that was because people were taken off guard and unprepared for Covid - 19.  The 

year of 2021 saw an increase of over $100,000 in the sales of burial plots.  

4. Monuments were also up by $30,000.00 in sales. 

5. This resulted in net profits of 2.5 million in revenue for the cemetery. 

6. The accounts receivable amount is mostly unrealized income for sale of monuments and 

Pre-need which are people pre-planning for burials.  

7. The Long-Term Investments total approximately 13.5 million, but most is untouchable 

by cemetery due to being Pre-Need and Perpetual Care and Maintenance fund balances.  

These are held for the pre -arrangements of funerals and to provide special care for 

specific graves in perpetuity.  

8. On the statement of Revenues and expenditures the cost of sales includes the salary and 

benefits of the workers in the back. The expenses salaries represent the cost of salaries of 

the office workers including General Manager.   

9. The category of the Other Revenues on the Statement of Revenues and Expenditures is 

something we don’t have much influence over as this is the unrealized gain/loss on our 

investments. It also includes the amount of HST that we pay, this is based on the amount 

of business we do.  

10. On the Statement of Financial position, it was decided by the Corporation to put another 

million into the internally restricted column this year to help with the cost of the upcoming 

project to move the shop to its own building.   

11. Marcia concluded by stating that the cemetery had a financially good year and a very busy 

year.  

Motion:  Moved by Bobby Briones, seconded by James Anok that the 2021 Financial Reports be 

accepted as printed and circulated.   

All in favour.  Carried 
 

Fr. Daniel stated that on behalf of the congregation, wardens, and himself, he would like to thank 

Sandra Aguilar and the cemetery staff for all the great work that they had accomplished during a 

very difficult year for everyone.  He also wanted to acknowledge Janet Vanier’s work as the 

Cemetery chair and her support of Sandra and the staff.  We are blessed to have Eric Savoury 

rejoin us as the Cemetery Board Chairman.   
 

Thelma Carter inquired about the St. James’ cremations and if we were still doing them.  Fr. 

Daniel replied that we were still doing them.  We had been asked to assist them for two weeks 

and it is going on two years now.  The funeral home that we work with most through that 

arrangement was Aftercare and we will continue that relationship going forward.  

 

Cemetery & Crematorium 2022 Budget:  Sandra Aguilar 

 

1. Sandra Aguilar presented the 2022 proposed budget and capital expenditures.  

2. Sandra explained that the cemetery had a conservative approach to the budget as this year 

couldn’t be compared to last year.  

3. The cremations are based on an average of the past two years so slightly lower than last 

year’s amount  



4. Traditional burial plots are projected up and this was based on the number of pre-

arrangements made.  

5. Chapel rentals are up as it is hoped that Covid restrictions will be lifted.  The chapel rental 

fee has been adjusted based on the number of people allowed in the room so lower fees 

were charged at times.  

6. Niches are projected to be up due to the number of cremations and the fact that a waiting 

list has been established for the planned new niche room.   

7. Catering is projected to be higher as well as it is hoped with restrictions being lifted the 

Willow Room will be able to offer catering again.  This will be based on the Public Health 

unit regulations.  If restaurants are permitted service so is the Willow Room.  

8. Advertising budgeted amount is consistent with last year.  We have been advertising on 

the billboard outside on Dundas Street by the dentist office.  

 

Capital Budget items: Sandra Aguilar 

 

1. A new John Deere compact utility tractor but they can get a trade in allowance for the 

other vehicle, therefore bringing the costs lower.  

2. The Magnolia Room needs a new microphone and amplifier system  
 

Motion:  Moved by Sandra Aguilar, seconded Patty Bartlett that the Cemetery & Crematorium 

2022 Budget be adopted as circulated. 

All in favour Carried 

 

Church 2021 Financials Report: Marcia McCann (auditor from McCann and Roque CA) 

 

1. Marcia McCann presented the audited financials for 2021.  Marcia explained that the 

envelope givings are just slightly lower than last year. 

2. Canada Helps revenue is up almost double over last year.   This is a concern as this could 

be affected as Fr. Daniel stated when the church transitions to live streaming.  

3. Another source of revenue for the church is cemetery rebates that have been arranged 

through the cemetery vendors.  This amount is tripled over last years figure.  This rebate 

program included a funeral home, catering, and a florist.  

4. This year we have added a category to acknowledge the contribution of the church to 

Outreach to outside groups that don’t pay a fee.  This represents the rental to Guide, 

Pathfinders, Brownies, and Scouts.  This category is Outreach revenues – non-monetary. 

5. Priest subsidies are also recognized as revenue as we didn’t incur that cost.   

6. The church was named in a will with no previsions on a bequest in the amount $15,000.00 

7. Rental income was mostly from the Federal elections that took place last year and the 

church hosted a polling station.  

8. Miscellaneous income is items that we don’t have accounts for such as donations to 

layettes.  

9. Carillon donations for this project according to the Accounting Standards can only be 

recognized at the same rate as the depreciation of the equipment.  

10. Account receivable for the church is made up on the last week of Canada Helps and 

cemetery rebate programs last cheques that were not received before the years end.  

11. Marcia explained that investment confirmation letters were sent out regarding the 

endowment fund.  The auditors were told that a fraud of one of the funds within our 

portfolio was under investigation.  The auditors talked with our financial advisor and were 

told that Price Waterhouse Cooper is investigating the fraud and it was not known how 

much of our investment we would be getting back.  Under Accounting Standards, the 

whole amount of the fund must be written off.  



12. Under the notes about the priest salary, it appears Fr Daniel received a huge pay increase. 

This is not the case. Last year 2020 the Synod gave the church a three-month grace period 

of payments for the priest which is reflected in the 2020 figures.   

13. Synod investments were mis-calculated last year and the auditor for the Synod asked all 

churches to display this amount as the following “unrealized gain/loss on fair market 

value adjustment”.  This also included the rectory fund that was over $15,000. 

14. The transfers from the cemetery will remain at the same amount as they have been for the 

past 5 years.  

  
 

Motion:  Moved by Sandra Aguilar, seconded by Carol Finlay that the Church Financials for 2021 

be accepted as circulated.  

All in favour.   Carried 
 

 

 
 

 

Church Budget 2022:  Sandra Aguilar 
 

1. Sandra presented a summarized budget for the church.  She explained the categories that 

would go into each entry.   

2. The operating revenue was made up of envelopes, a conservative amount for Canada Helps 

revenue from cemetery rebates and rentals including the already committed provincial 

election rental.   

3. Expenses are based on staff salaries and benefits and property costs such as utilities, 

insurance, WSIB and caretaking.  
 

Motion:  Moved by Bobby Briones, seconded by Martis Boyce that the Church 2022 Budget be 

adopted as circulated. 

All in favour.    Carried 
 

 

Parochial Reports 

Father Daniel asked if the parochial reports had been read and if there were any questions 

regarding any of the reports.  No questions asked. Fr. Daniel gave the report submitters a change 

to comment or add to their reports no one had anything to add or comment.  

 

Motion: Moved by Joanne Lubbock, seconded by Ethel Reid, that the 2021Parochial Reports be 

adopted as circulated.   

All in favour.  Carried.  
 

Elections and Appointments 

Motion: Moved by Barbara Kane and seconded by Susan MacDonald that the 2022 slate of 

officers be adopted as presented.   

All in favour.   Carried 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Proposed Slate of Officers- 2022 
Elected by Vestry 
 

People’s Warden    Edith Davis 

Deputy People’s Warden   Joanne Lubbock      

Treasurer     Sandra Aguilar 

Envelope Secretary    Lori Corbett 

Collection Committee Chair  Fay Williams      

  

Lay Members to Synod   Bobby Briones 

      Another member to be  appointed   

  

Christian Education    Janice Kretchman 

Pastoral Care     Susan MacDonald 

Sides person Chair    8:00 – Office   

Sides person/Greeter Chair   10:00 – Office 

Servers and Readers Coordinator  10:00 – Office  

Crucifer Coordinator    

Auditor     McCann & Roque Chartered Accountants 

Parochial Tribunal    Thelma Carter 

Cemetery Board Members    Mark O’Reilly 

John Collinson – Emeritus 

George Lee – Ting 

Elke Cruikshanks 

      Eric Savoury 

   

Advisory Board Members At Large Maggy Farnell 

      Lori Bailey 

Events Coordination Team   Keith Scott 

      Patty Bartlett       

Alternates: in emergency   Allan Morgan 

  

Flower Coordinator    Looking for appointment 

Coffee Hour Coordinator   Jedidah Njenga 
 

Appointed by Rector 
 

Rector’s Warden    Bobby Briones 

Deputy Rector’s Warden   Barbara Kane    

Cemetery Board Chair   Eric Savoury   

Chancel Guild Chair    Parveen Mehta 
 

Please Note:  

Appointment of Chair of the Advisory Board will take place at the first meeting of the 

board.  



MOTIONS 

General Business 

Motions 1 & 2 are general housekeeping motions, required by the Diocese and the Federal 

Government. 

 

Motion: Moved by Maggy Farnell, seconded by Patty Bartlett, that any two of the 

Churchwardens and Deputy Wardens be authorized by vestry to sign cheques for all parish 

accounts, church, and cemetery, though one signature must be that of a Churchwarden.  

All in favour.  Carried. 

 

Motion: Moved by Joanne Lubbock, seconded by Susan MacDonald, that the Envelope 

Secretary be authorized to sign official receipts for Income Tax purposes on behalf of the parish 

for the ensuing year. 

All in favour.  Carried. 

 

Motion: Moved by Maureen Rabjohn, seconded by Bobby Briones that McCann & Roque 

Chartered Accountants be appointed Auditor for the fiscal year 2022.  

All in favour.  Carried. 

 

Diocese Vestry Motion 

 

• Motion: “Moved by Barbara Kane, seconded by James Anok that we, the Vestry of St. 

John the Baptist Anglican Church in the Diocese of Toronto, urge the provincial 

government to support Ontario’s most vulnerable workers by passing legislation to 

implement the following measures: 
 

1) 10 days of employer-paid sick leave per year for all workers, without requiring workers 

to submit doctor’s notes, with an additional 14 days’ sick leave during public health 

emergencies. 

2) Require employers to give workers a minimum number of hours per week (based on the 

job) and to give reasonable advance notice of work schedules. 

3) Require employers to provide equal pay and benefits to all workers doing the same work, 

whether they are part-time, temporary, or contract workers, and regardless of immigration 

status.” 

All in favour.         Carried.  

 

New Business: 

No new business  

 

Fr. Daniel thanked all who participated in the vestry today both online and in person.  Thanked 

Marcia McCann for coming out to present financials.  

 

There being no further business, motion to adjourn by Susan MacDonald at 12:43 p.m.     

Carried 

The meeting closed with the doxology being said by all.      

   

 

 

 

 



Incumbent Priest’s Report to Vestry – February 26th, 2023 

 

Rejoice in hope, be patient in suffering, persevere in prayer. 

Romans 12:12 

As a church and as a society we have been living through transformative times. For some, 

the Covid pandemic has increased a sense of fear, a tendency toward isolation and a 

hesitancy to commit to anything, given the perpetual uncertainty we now live with. For 

many, these past three years have been a difficult time of loss and disruption: with the death 

of a loved one, changes in their health or that of a family member, the closure of a business, 

the ceasing of enjoyable activities. It has been a challenging, painful, and uncertain period.  

The scripture verse that begins this report, comes from the apostle Paul and is part of his 

Epistle to the Christians in Rome, outlining how faith in Christ transforms believers and 

the behaviour that results from such transformation. Paul was not unaware of the social, 

political and economic pressures on his congregation, yet he insists that their faith in Christ 

has even greater power to shape and transform, if they hold to it and make it primary in 

their lives.   

What was true for the Romans is also true for us. I feel that Paul’s words are more than a 

good reminder, but also a call to our own congregation in the times in which we find 

ourselves living. 

Rejoice… 

Always start with the blessings!  We have much to give thanks to God for and to rejoice 

in. I also want to give my thanks to many of you.  Our members are, after Christ himself, 

St. John’s greatest blessing. 

Thank you to our Churchwardens, Bobby Briones (Priest’s Warden); Edith Davis (People’s 

Warden), Barbara Kane (Deputy Priest’s Warden) and Joanne Lubbock (Deputy People’s 

Warden). The Wardens have provided incredible leadership during the past year, especially 

during my Leave of Absence (May-Sept).  I am so grateful to them for granting me the 

time off I needed and for protecting that time by handling everything in my absence. I know 

it was a challenging time for them, but they rose to the challenge admirably.  

All four wardens will remain in their positions for the coming year.  

I am so grateful for our Church Administrator Lori Corbett, who truly is the hub around 

which St John’s operates. With good humour, graciousness and dedication, Lori keeps 

parishioners informed, the Corporation updated, manages our contractors and renters, 

ensures our facilities are all maintained, liaisons with the Cemetery staff and, probably 

most difficult of all, keeps me in line. Thank you, Lori, for all that you do for us.  

Thank you to our Director of Music, Dr. Jeff McLeod, our choir leads Laurel Tubman, Erin 

Noel and Tony Faure, and our faithful choir members who lead us in praise with beautiful, 

carefully chosen music in all of our services. I am thankful for your talents and dedication. 

 



Along with our children and young families, I am grateful to our Children’s Minister Janice 

Kretchman for her faithfulness in providing a fun, welcoming and instructive program each 

Sunday. For the past year Janice provided programming at both Sunday services to meet 

the needs of children attending the 8am as well as the 10am service. We’re both thankful 

to the families who have been flexible and supportive in re-launching a Sunday School at 

St. John’s. 

Our Cemetery has continued to thrive under the excellent management of Sandra Aguilar.  

I wish to praise all our Cemetery Staff for their diligence and professionalism, representing 

our church so well to the wider community day after day. Thank you to Eric Savoury for 

taking up the role of Cemetery Chair once again and for agreeing to continue in that 

position for this coming year. 

My sincere thanks to Susan Macdonald and to all the members of the Pastoral Care 

committee for her ongoing dedication to our parishioners, ensuring our most isolated 

members receive regular contact from our church. Care of one another cannot be the work 

of only the ordained nor even of one committee, but involves each of us, calling, visiting 

and providing care for those we are connected to.  

Thank you to Ethel Reid for her continued dedication to the Layette Program.  She is 

instrumental in collecting items and the delivery twice a year to the Mississauga Trillium 

Health Center.  

Thank you to Parveen Mehta for her work as Chancel Guild Chair and for everyone who 

has continued to serve in this ministry including a number of new members! Thank you 

also to Maureen Rabjohn for laundering the linens each week and regularly replacing the 

altar fair linen.  

 

I am quite proud of myself that I haven’t spilled any wine or wax on an altar cloth in over 

a year. 

…in Hope 

There is much to give us hope as we look to the future. We have welcomed more 

newcomers into our congregation this past year than we’ve had in the last several years – 

seniors, students, young adults, and families and our online community continues to hold 

steady, with 150-200 views on average each Sunday.   

I’ve heard a few long-time members say things like “I don’t recognize anyone in church 

now.” The answer is simple: Come and get to know the people who are there! Stay for 

coffee hour occasionally and converse with those you don’t know. We are meant to be a 

community that knows and cares for one another – not just a community that shares space 

once a week. 

Our Zoom Bible Study on Tuesday evenings welcomes about 30 people each week, from 

all over Canada, the US and countries in Europe, Asia and Africa.  Our social media – 

particularly our Twitter account, has become an extension of my pastoral ministry which 

has connected even more to St. John’s and has increased regular donations to support our 

church. 



I am looking forward to beginning two new ministries with the support of interested 

parishioners – a “Family Worship” once a month that will bring parents, caregivers and 

children together outside Sunday morning, for a relaxed, creative time of worship and 

fellowship. Our Children’s Minister Janice Kretchman and parishioner Sarah Fryfogel will 

be working with me on this.  

We will also be beginning a new “Contemplative Prayer” ministry each Thursday night, 

beginning in Lent, led by Paula Marshall, during which participants will learn about and 

engage with various forms of contemplative spirituality such as meditation, lectio divina 

(holy reading), nature walks and other devotional practices from our rich Christian 

tradition. 

As we look forward to new ministries beginning at St John’s, we also will continue to 

reintroduce some of our traditional events but remember, these will only continue if people 

are willing to support them with their presence and by volunteering.  

This year the Corporation will also be starting to look at renovations to the kitchen and 

Parish Hall which will allow us to make better use of the space and provide facilities that 

would be more attractive to groups interested in renting the space.  

Be Patient in Suffering 

As there was in the world at large, within our congregation there has been division over 

our response to the pandemic.  While most have been cooperative and supportive of the 

mask mandate and the Diocese’ rules that only those who are vaccinated can serve in staff 

and volunteer positions within the church, this has not been universally the case.  

Individuals have had differing views on the need and efficacy of masks and vaccines.  

Everyone has had an opinion on changes made to our liturgy and whether they approved 

or didn’t.  

I don’t wish to argue or debate on these subjects. I am your priest and pastor regardless of 

your stance and I care about each one of you. I do have an obligation however to keep 

people safe, which means listening to the medical and scientific communities and to obey 

diocesan protocols whether or not I always fully agree with them.  

Currently, there is no requirement to wear a mask, and vaccinations have never been 

required to attend services. My hope is that those who have been staying away because of 

fear of Covid will consider balancing the risk – which you face any time you go out in 

public – with your obligation as a Christian to worship with the community and your 

individual health condition.  

Covid is an ongoing reality. Like cold and flu viruses, it isn’t going away. As flu shots have 

lowered risk of serious sickness due to infection, so widespread vaccination has reduced 

risk of serious complications from Covid.  

Clearly Covid can cause serious damage and should be taken seriously, however many 

have said they cannot come to church because of fear of Covid and yet attend meetings 

(sometimes at the church), theatre, restaurants, malls and other gatherings. You are no more 



at risk, especially in a mask, gathered for worship on a Sunday than you are attending any 

of these other events.  

My aim here is not to pressure people to put themselves at unreasonable risk. I do however 

want people to differentiate “being careful” and “being fearful”. Are you staying away for 

health reasons or staying away out of habit?   

For those who are hurt or angered over the Diocesan protocols regarding vaccinations and 

masks, I truly am sorry you have felt alienated by the church. I can only pray your faith in 

Christ and connection to St John’s will prove stronger and more important than these 

disagreements. Know that you truly are missed. 

Persevere in Prayer 

Which brings me to Paul’s final appeal to “persevere in prayer”. We are about to begin the 

season of Lent, which prepares us for Christ’s great victory over the greatest fear any of us 

have – death.   

 

Please continue to pray for your church and with your church. Our church is not dying. In 

many ways, we are thriving!  But we are changing. We are not and will not be again the 

church we were in 2019, or 2009 or 1990…go back as far as you like.  

 

We are however a church that God is still working with, still working through, still bringing 

new people to and for that I rejoice and give thanks. Let this coming season of Lent be a 

time of renewing your commitment to walk with Jesus, alongside the brothers and sisters 

that He has called to this community.  

 

And when we gather on April 9th for the first in-person Easter at St John’s in four years, 

we will not only be celebrating Resurrection, we will be witnessing it.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Daniel + 

 

The Reverend Daniel Brereton,  

Incumbent 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Wardens Vestry Report 2022 
 

Looking back, 2022 can be described as a year of much turbulence, trials and 

disappointment, but it ended stronger than we could have asked for or even imagined.  We 

became more cohesive and united as a community.   

 

With Covid still very much a part of life in Canada, 2022 was a time of uncertainty and 

caution for the community.  In line with Provincial guidelines and the Bishops of the 

Diocese of Toronto, we followed the guidelines for masking and distancing.  When Covid 

guidelines were eased, we came together to worship in person on January 30th
,
 taking into 

consideration the safety needs of ourselves and those around us by wearing face covering 

and observing necessary precautions.  

 

In 2022, our Incumbent, Fr. Daniel took a much-needed leave-of-absence, which left us at 

the mercy of the Anglican Diocese of Toronto to find a temporary replacement. We were 

blessed to have three different interim priests (Rev. Susanne McKim, Rev. Michelle 

Stanford, and Rev. Bob Bettson) conduct our worship services, and for this, we were very 

grateful. 

 

However, the month of August caused us much apprehension.  We, the Wardens, and 

Deputy Wardens, had to take a strong ‘hold of the reigns’ and lead the worship services.  

Many thanks to Lori Corbett, who was the main connecting link between us and the 

Diocese, the Interim Priests, preparing our bulletins, and communicating with the 

parishioners.  We developed a very strong team spirit, which led to a successful outcome. 

Many thanks to Barbara Kane and Joanne Lubbock who championed the cause, and also 

lead the 8 a.m.  services.  Many thanks to Thelma Carter and Walter Marshall for their 

contribution. 

 

On June 5th, the Anglican Diocese of Toronto moved to the Green Zone, with regards to 

Covid-19 protocols, and this was the beginning of a gradual return to some church 

activities. We resumed our Coffee Hour after the 10 am service, but with limited contact, 

and introduced safe food handling practices. Thanks to Jedidiah Nsenga for her reliable 

and consistent service making this time of socialization eventful and enjoyable. 

 

We welcomed Fr.  Daniel upon his return on Sunday September 4th.  This was a memorable 

day and a relief from much apprehension; the beginning of real change. 

 

This was followed by a special celebration on September 25th, with a welcome back BBQ, 

which was our first large gathering in 3 years. Despite torrential rains, we had about 150 

people attend this event to celebrate Fr. Daniel’s return as well as to celebrate our 

parishioners (both new and long-time members. 

 

A special thank you to Sandra Aguilar, Cemetery General Manager and all her staff for 

their efficient work and tenacity. They managed to maintain a high standard performance 

and achieved continued success during those uncertain periods. A new building at the 

cemetery was under construction, which will provide additional space for the operation of 

the cemetery, especially the crematorium, and others.  Secondly, this new building will 



provide much needed room for storage of supplies, utilities, and making the new area a 

comfortable place for employees to relax during break periods.  

We look forward to the official opening. 

 

On-Line Ministry  

Thanks to Fr. Daniel for his insightfulness and unwavering commitment, the weekly online 

services continue to be available to parishioners and viewers around the world. 

 

In 2022, we installed video and audio equipment to enhance our online services and to 

make it a permanent feature offered by St. John Dixie.  As with any new technology, there 

are challenges to overcome, and we are working on making the system more stable so that 

everyone can enjoy our services. Thanks to all our supporters at home and around the globe.  

We greatly appreciate your presence with us, and your continued support and contributions 

throughout the year.  We welcome you to our congregation and look forward to our 

continued relationship with all of you throughout the coming years. 

 

Many thanks to all Greeters, Sides-person, Readers, Lay Readers Crucifers, Servers, 

Counters, you all serve a vital role in the essential service to our Church.  Throughout the 

year, you are always present to fulfil your roles and obligations. May you continue to 

provide this essential service during the upcoming year and beyond. 

 

Music 

“If music be the staff of life, play on.” (Twelfth Night, William Shakespeare). 

. 

Many thanks to our music Director, Dr. Jeff McLeod, for his keen selection of musical 

offerings and in making them relevant to each service.  We thank him for his continued 

collaboration with the Incumbent and the administrative staff in preparing for upcoming 

events and directing the performances of the choir members. 

 

In addition, the musical renditions of our talented choir leads, and their operatic voices has 

added an enormous richness to the overall performance and harmony within the choir.   

 

Despite inclement weather, everyone was present for the Christmas Eve services, this 

edition was outstanding.  Many thanks to our young members, Jeremy and Miranda Hunter, 

who joined us and contributed their talent with music and song thereby adding enrichment 

and making the Christmas services that much more memorable. To our volunteer choir 

members, you are greatly admired and appreciated for your tenacity and continued service.  

What would we do without you? 

 

Children’s Ministry 

We thank Janice Kretchman for accepting the role as Leader of the Children’s Ministry, 

and for her creative efforts in attempting to make this program relevant, effective, and 

successful. This has been rather challenging experience due to continued limitation in 

attendance. However, despite this drawback, the children were always engaged in 

stimulating activities. There had been the delivery of an occasional solo presentation at the 

service by our young singer, Jiana with musical accompaniment by Erin Noel, these were 

well delivered and graciously received by the congregation. Thank you, Erin and Jiana. 

 



During the Christmas Season, under the guidance and supervision of Janice Kretchman, 

the children were involved in enacting the Nativity Scene and received our complete 

admiration and congratulations.  We look forward to greater success in 2023. 

 

 

Chancel Guild 

To Parveen Mehta, and all members of the Chancellor’s Guild, who prepares the tables and 

supplies for the observation of the Holy Eucharist, your work is much needed and 

appreciated.  A special thanks to Maureen Rabjohn for washing the linen for the Chancel 

and for making sure that clean robes are available at all times. 

  

Property  

In 2022, we were fortunate that there were no major infrastructure repairs on the Church 

building. The property was assessed in August and the appropriate insurance applied and 

is currently in effect. This property is kept maintained through frequent observation of its 

interior and exterior structure, and repairs made to cracks and minor leaks as soon as 

possible, the eavestrough are checked and cleaned at regular intervals.  After many years 

of service and repeated repairs the furnace and air conditioner system were replaced and 

currently is operating efficiently. We will continue to maintain the principles of good 

hygiene and cleanliness in all physical areas.  To accomplish this, we continue to use the 

services of a qualified cleaning agency. 

 

Many thanks to Joseph Nugent for his work in varnishing the wooden panels in the 

Sanctuary.  

 

The parking lot is an accommodation shared between the Church and Cemetery. In order 

to avoid frustration and discord, particularly on Sunday, we have increased the number of 

spaces dedicated to our parishioners, as well as, parking enforcers to direct traffic when the 

Cemetery has services at the same time as our morning worship. We have to respect other 

traditions in every way, and we believe that the parking lot is big enough for everyone.  

 

Very little work was done in the garden this year. The focus was ‘weed control’ rather 

planting new flowers and plants.  Thanks to all those who were involved in maintaining the 

garden. Thank you, Mary Downey, Chris Marks, and Chris Nihda for all your efforts to 

make this area flourish. 

 

Safety and Security 

Two entrance doors, the west entrance and Narthex, have been repaired and additional 

reinforcement applied to eliminate the possibility of break-ins. The outdoor lights have 

been replaced for adequate visibility and walk-ways are kept adequately cleaned and 

maintained all year.  The elevator was inspected this year and continues to operate 

efficiently. A lock box was installed by Bryant Electrical System to prevent unauthorized 

use of power to the electrical sign on Dundas St. entrance. The fire alarm system is now 

monitored, and pass cards have been issued to Lori Corbett, Fr.  Daniel Brereton, and 

Sandra Aguilar. First Aid bags were installed throughout the Church, the AED and signage 

are located in areas visible to all.  Thank you, Carol and Susan Finlay for donation of the 

AED equipment. 

 

 



Outreach 

Outreach at St. John’s has been minimal since 2019. God willing, we look to be more active 

in our outreach ministries in 2023. We are, however, still active in our community.  

In 2023, Mississauga Service for Seniors will be using the Parish Hall Seniors will now 

have a place to gather on Tuesdays and Thursday from 11:30 am to 1:30 pm to participate 

in planned social recreational activities. This is a wonderful way to open up St. John Dixie 

to the greater community. 

 

Throughout the year we collected donations and contributed to The Open Door and The 

Food Bank on alternate months.  Thanks to everyone who made this possible, and much 

gratitude to Covey and Thelma Carter and Alan and Carol Ann Morgan for delivering all 

the goods to these two organizations.  

 

The Layette Program was still going strong, and we continue to provide some much-needed 

supplies to the Mississauga Trillium Hospital. Thank you, Ethel Reid, for your dedication 

and continuing this program even during challenging times.  

 

Finally, our online Tuesday Bible Study continues to prosper, despite being temporarily 

stopped when Fr. Daniel was absent. Fr. Daniel’s online Tuesday Bible Study has grown 

from about 10 participants at the beginning of the pandemic, to now consistently having 

nearly 30 plus people joining each week from as far as Australia. Truly incredible! 

 

Advisory Board 

Our Advisory Board has been inactive since 2020.  However, we look forward to a full 

return and vibrant activity in 2023. 

 

Fellowship 

Fellowship returns to St. John’s Dixie. Our coffee hour after the 10 am serviced resumed 

in July, after being on hiatus since the shut-down in March 2020 due to the Covid 

pandemic. We also had our first big gathering since the pandemic with our Welcome Back 

Sunday BBQ to celebrate our community and to welcome the return of Fr. Daniel from his 

leave-of-absence. Despite the stormy weather the day of the BBQ, we still had about 150 

people in attendance and our grill masters (Todd Davis, and Uchi Obi) were outside in the 

rain making sure the burgers and hot dogs (both meat and non-meat) were cooked for 

everyone to enjoy. Thank you to all our volunteers for making the Welcome Back Sunday 

BBQ a success.  

 

In 2022, we saw new faces in our pews and to officially embrace them into our St. John’s 

Dixie family, we held a New Members Meet-and-Greet event in November. It was well 

attended, not only by new members, but also current members. It was an evening to 

discover the Church as well as getting to know Fr. Daniel, the Wardens and long-time 

parishioners of St. John’s Dixie. We are excited to offer more Fellowship activities in 2023.  

 

Financials 

Parishioners’ donations to the church are slowly but surely recovering after hitting a low 

during the depths of the COVID Pandemic. Total giving rose 2.2% in 2022, but we are still 

down 17% from 2019 levels.  Could 2023 be the year we go back to donations level of 

2019? No surprise, open collections saw a big bounce-back in 2022 as in-person service 

returned, but still way below levels seen in 2019.  We should open collections rebound 



further in 2023:  however, with more ways to donate to the church, we may take a while to 

return to pre-pandemic levels. 

 

Envelope holder/PAR (Pre- Authorized Remittance) giving’s in 2022 rose 1% and we are 

inching out way back to pre-pandemic levels.  We thank everyone for contributing to the 

stability of the financial status of the church. 

 

The Canadian economy had its challenges in 2022.  in particular, the rapid rise in inflation.  

to tame inflation, the bank Of Canada raised its rates aggressively, which resulted in the 

sudden halt in economic activity.  On top of inflation, Russia invaded Ukraine in 2022, 

which resulted in increased geopolitical risk, which negatively impacted the stock market.  

As a result, our investment portfolio did not fare well in 2022, losing just under 7% of its 

value.  We look to reverse that in 2023 as we are looking closely at our investment portfolio. 

 

Members’ Envelopes 

We have eliminated the purchase and use of members’ envelopes.  They have proven very 

costly and wasteful.  In the meantime, we have made available ordinary blue envelopes for 

those who still want to use them.  The elimination of this has resulted in more individuals 

making their subscription through PAR. Special Offerings, for example Christmas, Easter, 

Thanksgiving, etc, we will continue to provide envelopes at the specified time throughout 

the year.  We continue to receive all offerings, via the method that is most convenient to 

everyone, so that we satisfy you needs and at the same time meet the financial needs of the 

church. 

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Bobby Briones, Rector’s Warden 

Edith Davis, Peoples Warden 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Music Ministry Vestry Report - 2023 

 

This past year has seen us finally be able to return to regular choir activities after a long 

hiatus due to the pandemic. It feels like old times! The biggest and most exciting change 

to the music program at St. John’s is the addition of two additional choir leads attending 

nearly every service. In addition to the soprano lead being filled by Laurel Tubman, we 

have Erin Noel on alto, and Anthony Fauré on tenor. Having three professional choral 

leads ensures a very high standard to music at our weekly services, and allows me to 

program an even greater variety of music for our choir. There are many benefits to having 

our choir leads each Sunday. These include: 

 

-Having special music on Sundays where the choir is not singing an anthem 

-Ensuring all parts of an anthem are covered.  

-It ensures that there will always be a cantor for the psalm  

-It allows for guidance on vocal technique 

-It allows everyone to sing with confidence in a larger group 

-Given that I (Jeff) sing bass, we have all four parts in a typical hymn or choral 

piece covered so that we can perform some music a capella.   

 

We appreciate the support of the church in keeping the standard of music high at St. 

John’s, and we continue to endeavor to program a variety of music from a wide range of 

traditions, while also honouring the rich tradition of Anglican Music. As always, there is 

room for many more new members of the choir. No matter your experience, if you enjoy 

singing, please consider joining this friendly and fun community. As music plays a large 

role in Anglican Liturgy, it is a very important and valuable way to participate in church 

life while offering your talents. Come hone your singing skills while making new 

friends!  

 

I have enjoyed including instruments beyond piano and organ in the mix of music 

programed at St. John’s, including Erin Noel playing guitar and ukulele, Jeremy Hunter 

playing cello, Stuart Laughton and Jake Wilkinson on trumpet, and yours truly bringing 

out my accordion to accompany one piece during Advent. I have also appreciated the 

guest vocalists Ianjai Mounsey-Ndemo and Justine Owen, as well as the talented pianist 

Sherri Collins. Sherri is a very talented and experienced musician and music educator 

who recently retired from teaching music at Cawthra Park Secondary School. St. John’s 

is very fortunate to have such a wonderful person living in Mississauga who is always 

willing to fill in for me behind the organ and piano when I am away.  

 

Submitted by  

Dr. Jeff McLeod 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Children’s Ministry Report 2022 

 

Things are getting exciting in our children's ministry. We have 5 or 6 kids most Sundays 

at 10am and had 8 at one service recently. Which may still sound small, but it's pretty 

much doubled from a year ago. 

 

We've had an all-ages service, and hope for more. We've shared a reading and sermon 

time during the "upstairs worship" in the form of a Godly Play story, and hope to again. 

The kids love getting a chance to lead the readings, and to share the prayers. And they 

enjoy having the readings led in the "I wonder what this means" format they're used to. 

 

When we tell a story, we use objects. They may be flat pieces like in The Parable of the 

Good Samaritan, with images of the various characters on wooden cards and felt pieces 

for the road and the rocks -- the "dangerous, dark places." Or they may be three-

dimensional figures like in The Holy Family, where the pieces resemble a creche scene. 

 

And then we wonder about the people in the story, what our favourite part of the story 

might be, what might happen next, stuff like that. This can be incredibly exciting as I see 

the responses grow deeper each time we share a story. 

 

The children of our Church School are kids are not only clever, but they are also kind. 

Once recently, we had only two of our regular children. Then, just after worship started, 

two visitors came down. The two regular kids immediately jumped up to spread out more 

blankets for them to sit on and made them feel welcome. 

 

We have several Godly Play stories of our own, and we are using a number of stories 

borrowed from All Saints Kingsway. I hope we will be able to purchase more of our own 

stories this year, and to return the ones borrowed.  With Fr. Daniel we are planning to 

begin a regular program of “Messy Church” inviting families to come together for simple 

worship and fellowship at a time outside Sunday mornings.  

 

I am truly enjoying leading the Children’s Ministry. Sharing stories this way helps me to 

step far away from everything else going on in the world and let the teachings of the 

stories sink in.  I always leave for home on Sundays feeling calmer. Thank you for this 

opportunity.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Janice Kretchman 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Cemetery Board Report for 2022 

 

What a challenging year this was. We were not sure what to expect as Covid was still 

around, but we were forecasting that we would see a decline in deaths and a loosening of 

Covid protocols which would allow us to get back to normal levels of activity. However, 

there was no reduction in activities, and it was a hectic year as a result. 

 

Revenues in all categories exceeded budgeted numbers and this meant challenges for staff 

to meet the demand. 

 

Total revenue for the year was just over $4 million and revenues less expenses were just 

over $1.5 million. 

 

The erection of a new building to house the vehicles and other equipment along with 

associated staff proceeded full steam ahead and was completed by year end except for some 

minor details. The move will be completed early in 2023. A special thanks to Sandra 

Aguilar who spearheaded and coordinated all aspects of the project, getting the relevant 

permits approved and ensuring that all phases of work were completed on time and within 

budget. 

 

The move to the new building will allow us to install more indoor niches (we have no 

inventory at this time) and provide space for a new Retort in order to process more 

cremations. We expect the need for cremation services to increase going forward. The 

Cremator used by Turner and Porter is running at full capacity.  

 

During the year, the columbaria in Section J had to be repaired due to structural damages. 

The 3 columbaria were re-faced with new granite fronts and secured with a new ‘Rosette’ 

system. The tops and sides were also replaced. The area around the Cenotaph was repaved 

and a nice concrete curve was added.  

 

In addition, The Ministry of Environment performed an audit of the Crematorium in April 

2022, all violations were resolved by the end of July and St John’s is in full compliance.  

Church parking on Sundays. As some of you may noticed, there were times when there 

was limited parking for parishioners attending church for the 10.00 am. service due to the 

large numbers of cars attending a funeral at the Cemetery. To address this, the Cemetery 

has contracted a Parking Enforcement company to ensure that a section of parking close to 

the church is reserved for those attending church at that time. We acknowledge that this is 

not a perfect solution as one cannot know how many parking spots will be needed on a 

given Sunday. This situation will be continually monitored.     

 

Respectfully submitted.  

Eric Savoury 

Chairman of the Cemetery Board 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

The College of Bishops Pastoral Letter to Vestries, 2023 
          to be read or circulated on the Sunday of the parish’s annual vestry meeting 

 
 
 
To the clergy, churchwardens, and parishioners of the Diocese of Toronto: 
Dear friends, 
 

Grace to you and peace from God our Father and the Lord Jesus Christ (2 Cor. 1:2) 
 
As we come to our Annual Vestry Meetings, it is a good time for us to reflect with thanksgiving on 
the past and look with a sense of hopefulness to the year ahead. 
 
The past year was significant in many ways in the life of our Diocese. First, we have been returning 
to some sense of normalcy after two years of Covid lockdowns and restrictions. While we continue 
to urge parishes to exercise caution, many of our communities have returned to something that 
resembles our pre-pandemic life together. We thank God that the worst of the pandemic now seems 
behind us. 
 
Of course, parishes are continuing to grapple with the effects of Covid. Many of our churches 
continue to experience a decrease in Sunday attendance, fewer volunteers to fill key parish roles, and 
a diminished number of regular financial givers. Clergy and lay leaders also continue to experience a 
deep sense of fatigue and anxiety about the future. In that light, we continue to encourage a 
gentleness with one another and a renewed commitment to self-care as we navigate post-pandemic 
realities. Over the past year, we have been pleased to offer a mini-Sabbatical opportunity for clergy. 
These ten days – taken together or broken up – are intended for rest and renewal. We have been 
delighted to hear that many clergy have already taken a mini-Sabbatical or have made plans to do so 
in 2023. 
 
The past year also saw the launch of “Cast the Net”, a strategic visioning process for our Diocese. 
Ably led by the Very Reverend Peter Elliott, Canon Ian Alexander and Dr Anita Gittens, ODT, the 
Cast the Net team has surveyed the clergy in the Diocese in various consultations, and is now 
engaging lay people from every parish across the Diocese. Based on John 21, this Biblically-
grounded initiative is seeking to help us chart of path forward as a Diocese. We eagerly anticipate a 
full report from the Cast the Net team at our Synod next November. 
 
Our restructuring of episcopal leadership also continued through 2022. The Episcopal Leadership 
Implementation Team followed up the good work of the Episcopal Leadership Working Group and 
brought forward a model for raising up and deploying territorial archdeacons and canon 
administrators to assist the bishops in their work. Interviews took place in November, leading to the 
appointment of four new archdeacons and one new canon administrator. Many of you were present 
at the Cathedral on January 15 as Archdeacon John Anderson, Archdeacon Theadore Hunt, 
Archdeacon Steven Mackison and Archdeacon Cheryl Palmer and Canon Laura Walton were 
collated. They have now begun their work and are already helping to share ministry with the College 
of Bishops. 
 
After twenty years of service, Canon Clare Burns also retired as our Chancellor and is now 
Chancellor Emeritus. We are grateful for Clare’s ministry and are also delighted to welcome Marg 
Creal our new Chancellor. Those of you who were present at the New Year’s Levee on January 1 
will remember the joy of Chancellor Creal’s installation. 
 



Our work in the area of anti-bias and anti-racism (ABAR) also continued in 2022. The workshops 
for clergy concluded last year and we began to roll out the parish-based program. Clergy and lay 
facilitators are now trained to visit parishes and lead this important work. The ABAR Pod has also 
been formed to lead the ongoing work of dismantling bias and racism in our structures.  May God 
continue to bless our efforts and encourage us in this vital work. 
 
As we look ahead to a new year, we do so with a sense of great hope. Our beloved Church has 
changed dramatically over the past few years and will continue to change. But God is present and 
faithful, and our proclamation and sharing in the redemptive love of God in Christ continues to be 
the mission to which we are called. 
 
Be assured of our prayers for each of you as you meet for your Annual Vestry Meeting. We want to 
express our profound thanks to all who exercise leadership in the Diocese of Toronto. Whether you 
are stepping down from a particular ministry, or continuing on, or taking up a new role this year, 
thank you for your commitment and faithfulness. You are a blessing to the Church in our Diocese. 
 
We write this letter on the Feast of the Conversion of St. Paul. As the Church celebrates the 
beginning of Paul’s evangelistic ministry to the Gentiles, please join us in praying and working for 
the extension of the Gospel in every place, and for the renewal of the Church in our midst. 
 
Yours faithfully in Christ Jesus, 

 
The Right Rev. Andrew J. Asbil 
Bishop of Toronto 
 
 
The Right Rev. Riscylla Shaw 
Suffragan Bishop of Toronto 
 
 
The Right Rev. Kevin Robertson 
Suffragan Bishop of Toronto    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Summary Report of 

The 161st Regular Session of Synod 

held Nov. 17-19 / 23. 
 

 

The Rt. Rev. Bishop Asbil delivered his Charge to the 161st regular session of Synod in 

person, at All Saints Anglican Church, Kingsway, Toronto, on Thursday Nov 17th from 7- 

9 pm. and live - streamed on Hubilo on-line event platform. His Sermon was focused on 

the theme for this year’s Synod “Cast The Net” and was followed by songs, and praises, 

ending with the Holy Eucharist. 

 

Rev. Asbil’s reflections were centered on many of his life experiences with family, mainly 

childhood fishing experiences, in different locales in Ontario. Some comments are as 

follows;-“The theme for Synod is a reflection of the hours and days following the 

resurrection, the disciples lived in a changed world, a world where the promises of God 

could be fulfilled in ways they couldn’t imagine. At first it was too much for them, so they 

went back to the familiarity of the fishing boat. But after a night of fruitless fishing - a 

stranger calls to them from ashore - the risen Jesus- and encourages them to drop their net 

in a new place.” He further commented on the significance of this biblical story and its 

implications for all Christians. We can learn to build on past experiences and look forward 

to greater prosperity. There is no going back. 

 

He remarked that we have experienced times of great prosperity in our churches when the 

pews were filled with individuals of all ages. Now there appears to be a dearth, but we must 

look forward and prepare for the third resurrection of Christ. In the meantime, let us think 

of love in all life-forms. 

- homelessness, feeding the hungry and making connections where we see God 

at work 

- renew our commitments to the First Nations people; healing and reconciliation 

- commit ourselves to anti-racism and the tearing down of barriers and rebuilding 

new ones. 

 

Finally, there was an expression of gratitude to Bishops, Priests, Lay persons, Health care 

professionals who had worked and devoted much time during the pandemic to save lives 

or who have dedicated their time for the greater good of spreading the Gospel of Christ. 

This presentation ended with the celebration of the Eucharist. 

 

On November 18, the Rt. Rev. Bishop Asbil opened the meeting. This was followed by the 

reading and chanting of the Psalms. He drew attention to an inappropriate motion that was 

circulating and asked that this message be ignored. This was followed by a practice session 

regarding the use of the technology to be used in the voting process which immediately 

followed.  

 

On Nov. 18th, a group discussion was held via Zoom. Individuals commented on their 

interpretation of the story of Jesus appearing to His disciples and telling them to’ cast the 

net’, as relevant to the theme for the upcoming year. “Cast the Net”.  

 



The agenda for November 18 and 19 consisted mainly of the voting on motions as identified 

in Section A & E of the Convening Circular. These sessions were led by Bishop Asbil and 

the motions read by the Vice Chancellor Pamela Boisvert, at her final term in Office: - 

 

Motion #11A Affordable housing 

Motion #11B Allotment 

Motion #11C Staff position (defeated) 

Motion #11D Church Energy Management 

Motion #11E Affordable housing 

Motion # 3A  General Synod members 

Motion # 11B Synod Council members 

 

The majority of the motions were passed with very little discussions. 

 

There were also a few short missional moments, with less intensity and details as previous 

Synods. the musical interludes were distracting and negatively impacted one’s ability to 

concentrate. We saw the use of a grass Labyrinth created by St. Johns in Bowmanville 

being utilized. 

 

In conclusion Bishop Asbil, gave his final remark with thanks to the outgoing Chancellor 

for her twenty years of service. She was honoured with a bouquet of flowers. 

 

For a detailed report from this event, please visit: -  

The Anglican diocese of Toronto, 161st Synod Report Nov. 17 - 19 / 2023  

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Edith R. Davis,  

Peoples Warden 
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Layette Programme 

 

Support for the Layette Programme has continued in spite of the challenges faced over 

the last couple of years.  We delivered a total of 20 layettes in 2022, 10 in April and 10 in 

October.  The Social Services department at the Trillium Health was very grateful to have 

them as there is an ongoing need for help for new mothers.   I would like to thank all 

those who knitted, crocheted, shopped, donated funds and helped to assemble the gift 

bags for making this all possible.  Together we are making a difference in the lives of 

others. May the Lord continue to bless you all.  

 

Submitted by  

Ethel Reid.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pastoral Care Report for 2023 

 

Our Pastoral Care team continues to provide support to those that remain at home, in 

retirement homes or in a hospital.  The last 2 or 3 years we’ve been unable to visit in person.  

We have kept in touch through telephone calls that are very much appreciated.  Greeting 

Cards are sent out at Christmas and Easter. 

Thank you to Carol Ann Morgan, Parveen Mehta, Ethel Reid, Chris Marks, Helen 

Fernandez, Barbra Kane, Wanda Stubbington, Flo Ellis and Jane Wallace for sharing their 

gifts to this ministry by continued friendships or newly created ones. 

We continue to encourage anyone that feels they may have an interest in this ministry to 

please let us know. 

 

Submitted by 

Susan MacDonald 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 

 

To the Wardens of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church Cemetery Division 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church, Cemetery Division, (the Cemetery), 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the statements of changes in net 

assets, revenues and expenditures and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Cemetery as at December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO) 
 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Cemetery in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

ASNPO, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Cemetery's ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Cemetery or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Cemetery's financial reporting process. 

 

 

 

 

 
(continues) 

 



Independent Auditor's Report to the Wardens of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church Cemetery Division 

(continued) 

 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

⚫ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

⚫ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Cemetery’s internal control. 

⚫ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

⚫ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Cemetery’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Cemetery to cease to continue as a going concern. 

⚫ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

 

Mississauga, Ontario McCann & Roque Chartered Professional Accountants 

February 16, 2023  Professional Corporation 

 

Authorized to practise public accounting by the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 
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General Fund Restricted Funds Fund Restricted 2022 2021 

 

 
 
CURRENT 

 ASSETS  

Cash (Note 2) $ 827,724 $ - $ - $ 1,000,000 $ 1,827,724 $ 2,559,646 

Letters of credit (Note 3) 462,938 - - - 462,938 462,938 

Accounts receivable (Note 4) 635,076 - - - 635,076 552,254 
Due from Church division 6,082 - - - 6,082 - 
Inventory 9,308 - - - 9,308 9,098 

Current portion of loan to General 
Fund (Note 6) 

 
- 

 
93,298 

 
- - 

 
93,298 

 
- 

Prepaid expenses 
Cash equivalent value of Implant 

20,157 - - - 20,157 25,431 

Recycling points 190,092 - - - 190,092 129,170 

 
2,151,377 93,298 - 1,000,000 3,244,675 3,738,537 

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 8) - - 9,942,356 - 9,942,356 7,416,714 

LOAN TO GENERAL FUND (Note 6) - 373,191 - - 373,191 - 

INVESTMENTS (Note 9) 2,154,149 10,559,446 - - 12,713,595 13,473,263 

 
$ 4,305,526 $ 11,025,935 $ 9,942,356 $ 1,000,000 $ 26,273,817 $ 24,628,514 
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General Fund Restricted Funds Fund Restricted 2022 2021 

CURRENT 
Accounts payable and accrued 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

Current portion of loan from Care and 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

$ 4,305,526  $ 11,025,935 $ 9,942,356 $ 1,000,000  $ 26,273,817 $ 24,628,514 
 

 
 

People's Warden 

 

 
 

Rector's Warden 

liabilities $ 346,542 $ (1) $ - $ - $ 346,541 $ 284,009 
Holdbacks payable 195,190 - - - 195,190 - 

Due to Church division - - - - - 2,836 

Maintenance (Note 6) 93,298 - - - 93,298 - 
Bonuses payable (Note 10) 85,237 -  - - 85,237 73,552 

Deferred income 245,032 -  - - 245,032 216,589 

 
965,299 

 
(1) - - 965,298 576,986 

LOAN FROM CARE AND       

MAINTENANCE (Note 6) 373,191 - - - 373,191 - 

PRE-NEED TRUST FUNDS (Note 9) - 2,459,929 - - 2,459,929 2,271,311 

1,338,490 2,459,928 - - 3,798,418 2,848,297 

NET ASSETS 2,967,036 8,566,007 9,942,356 1,000,000 22,475,399 21,780,217 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
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Statement of Changes in 

Net Assets Year Ended 

December 31, 2022 
 

 

 
General Fund Restricted Funds 

Capital Asset 

Fund 

Internally 

Restricted 

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 
 

 
 

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 

 

As previously reported $ 3,346,220 $ 9,017,283 $ 7,416,714 $ 2,000,000 $ 21,780,217 $ 18,546,661 

Recognition of Implant Recycling program 

at beginning of 2021 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

84,488 

As restated 3,346,220 9,017,283 7,416,714 2,000,000 21,780,217 18,631,149 

Excess of revenues over expenditures 1,661,186 (892,289) (326,940) - 441,957 2,766,985 

Perpetual care deposits - 433,813 - - 433,813 508,622 

Recurring transfer of funds to the Church       

division (125,500) - - - (125,500) (126,539) 

Non-recurring transfers to the Church 

division (55,088) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(55,088) 

 
- 

Invested in capital assets (2,852,582) - 2,852,582 - - - 

Inter-fund transfer (7,200) 7,200 - - - - 

Reduction of internally restricted cash 
during the year (Note 2) 1,000,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,000,000) 

 
- 

 
- 

 

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR $ 2,967,036 $ 8,566,007 $ 9,942,356 $ 1,000,000 $ 22,475,399 $ 21,780,217 
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Statement of Revenues and 

Expenditures Year Ended 

December 31, 2022 
 

 

General Fund 

 

Restricted Funds 

Capital Asset 

Fund 

 

2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 

 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES (Schedule 1) 

 

$ 4,409,631 

 

$ - $ - $ 4,409,631 

 

$ 4,373,027 

STATEMENT OF COST OF SALES (Schedule 1) 2,088,262 - - 2,088,262 1,857,564 

GROSS PROFIT 2,321,369 - - 2,321,369 2,515,463 

EXPENDITURES 
   

Salaries, wages and benefits (Notes 10, 12) 537,305 - - 537,305 492,921 

Amortization - - 326,940 326,940 314,798 

Office 97,342 - - 97,342 86,816 

Credit card and other bank charges 72,332 - - 72,332 65,283 

Professional fees (Note 11) 43,997 - - 43,997 55,873 

Advertising and promotion 19,769 - - 19,769 26,574 
Insurance 23,877 - - 23,877 22,204 

 
794,622 - 326,940 1,121,562 1,064,469 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER 
    

EXPENDITURES FROM OPERATIONS 1,526,747 - (326,940) 1,199,807 1,450,994 

OTHER INCOME 
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 

 

(212,243) 

 

(1,031,084) 

 

- 

 

(1,243,327) 

 

919,049 

Investment income 312,232 - - 312,232 256,666 

Realized gains (losses) on sale of investments - 138,795 - 138,795 110,621 

Harmonized sales tax income (expense) 24,887 - - 24,887 24,676 

Gain on disposal of capital assets - - - - 4,169 
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign exchange (Note 7) 9,563 - - 9,563 810 

 
134,439 (892,289) - (757,850) 1,315,991 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER 
     

EXPENDITURES $ 1,661,186 $ (892,289) $ (326,940) $ 441,957 $ 2,766,985 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 

2022 2021 
 

 
 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Excess of over expenditures $ 441,957 $ 2,766,985 
Items not affecting cash:   

Amortization of capital assets 326,940 314,798 

(Gain) loss on disposal of capital assets - (4,169) 
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments 1,243,327 (919,049) 

 
2,012,224 2,158,565 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
  

Accounts receivable (82,822) (129,175) 

Inventory (210) 430 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 62,531 91,484 

Due from Church division (6,082) 8,366 

Deferred income 28,443 28,441 

Prepaid expenses 5,274 (4,602) 

Cash equivalent value of Implant Recycling points (60,922) (44,682) 

Bonuses payable 11,685 (27,698) 
Holdbacks payable 195,190 - 

 
153,087 (77,436) 

Cash flow from operating activities 2,165,311 2,081,129 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of capital assets 

 

(2,852,582) 

 

(406,914) 

Proceeds on disposal of capital assets - 6,000 

Care and maintenance deposits (433,813) (508,622) 

Pre-need investment deposits (188,618) (177,663) 

Unrestricted investment purchases (120,000) (120,000) 

Proceeds on disposal of investments 878,368 514,366 
Letter of credit - 129,539 

 

Cash flow used by investing activities (2,716,645) (563,294) 
 

FINANCING ACTIVITY 
Transfers to the Church division (180,588) (126,539) 

Cash flow used by financing activity (180,588) (126,539) 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW (731,922) 1,391,296 

Cash - beginning of year 2,559,646 1,168,350 

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 1,827,724 $ 2,559,646 

 

 

 

 
 

See notes to financial statements 
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PURPOSE OF THE CEMETERY 
 

St. John the Baptist Anglican Church operates a cemetery and crematorium at 737 Dundas Street East, 

Mississauga, Ontario offering services to the parishioners of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church and to the 

public, principally of Mississauga, Ontario. The incumbent and church wardens of the parish of St. John the 

Baptist Anglican Church are responsible for the cemetery under the provisions of the Funeral, Burial and 

Cremation Services Act 2012 and the Canons of the Incorporated Synod of the Diocese of Toronto. The operation 

of the cemetery is managed by a Cemetery Board. 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Basis of presentation 
 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations (ASNFPO). 
 

These financial statements include only the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the Cemetery division. 

The Church division prepares separate audited financial statements, and these are available upon request. 
 

Fund accounting 
 

St. John the Baptist Anglican Church, Cemetery division ("Cemetery") follows the deferral method of 

accounting, with funds. Under fund accounting, resources for various purposes are classified for accounting and 

reporting purposes into funds established according to their nature and purpose. 
 

General Fund 
 

This fund includes the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses applicable to the ongoing operations of the 

Cemetery and Crematorium. 
 

Capital Asset Fund 
 

The Capital Asset Fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses related to the Cemetery's capital 

assets and cemetery development program. 
 

Restricted Funds 
 

The Restricted Funds reports the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses applicable to the various restricted 

funds. 
 

Cemetery Care and Maintenance Fund 
 

The Cemetery care and maintenance fund is established to provide for the care of cemetery grounds in 

perpetuity. In accordance with the Cemetery Act, a minimum of 40% of all cemetery plot sales and 15% of 

all niche sales are deposited to this Fund. The remaining balance is recorded as income in the General Fund 

in the year of the sale. Investment income earned by this Fund is recorded in the General Fund and is used to 

offset the costs of maintaining the Cemetery. 
 

(continues) 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Fund accounting (continued) 

Monument Care and Maintenance Fund 

The Monument care and maintenance fund is established to provide special care for specific graves in 

perpetuity as prescribed by the source of the funds. Income earned by this Fund is recorded in the General 

Fund and is used to offset expenses charged for the maintenance of the graves. 

 

Pre-Need Assurance Trust Fund 

The Pre-Need assurance trust is established with proceeds from sales of services which are to be provided at 

a future date. Amounts received in connection with pre-need sales contracts are deposited to this Fund and 

administered by a trustee. Income earned from amounts on deposit is retained by the Fund and allocated to 

the individual contracts. 

 

Cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and fixed income investments with maturities of less than 90 

days. 
 

Inventory 
 

Inventory consists of products for resale and is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with the 

cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis. 
 

Inventory typically consists of retail items such as urns, wreaths, plaques, and other similar items. 

Capital assets 

Capital assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization. Capital assets are amortized over 

their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis at the following rates and methods: 
 

Building 40 years straight-line method 

Cemetery land  non-depreciable 

Cemetery equipment 5 years straight-line method 

Columbarium 40 years straight-line method 

Furniture and equipment 5 years straight-line method 

Grounds improvements 7 years straight-line method 

Motor vehicles 5 years straight-line method 

Computer equipment 5 years straight-line method 

Computer software 10 years straight-line method 

Sign 5 years straight-line method 
Canadian original artwork 5 years straight-line method 

 

The Cemetery regularly reviews its capital assets to eliminate obsolete items. 
 

Capital assets acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized until they are placed into use. 
 

(continues) 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Long term investments 

Investments for which there are quoted prices in an active market are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains or 

losses are reported as part of net income. Investments for which there is not an active market are carried at 

amortized cost except when it is established that their value is impaired. Impairment losses, or reversal of 

previously recognized impairment losses, are reported as part of net income. 
 

Revenue recognition 
 

The Cemetery recognizes revenues from sales of burial plot and niche rights and ancillary products in the General 

Fund at the point of sale when the Cemetery's ability to collect is reasonably assured. At such time, title passes 

to the customer. It recognizes revenues from the sale of monuments and foundations in the General Fund at the 

point the monument is delivered and the foundation is poured. Such revenue is recorded net of amounts allocated 

to care and maintenance deposits 
 

Revenue from services including cremation fees, chapel rentals and openings is recognized in the General Fund 

when such services are provided, and at such time as pricing is fixed or determinable. 
 

Ordinary income from investments, receivables, and similar assets are accounted for in the fund owning the 

assets, with the exception of income derived from investment of care and maintenance funds. Unrestricted care 

and maintenance fund investment income is accounted for as revenue of the General fund and, if they are 

restricted, as deferred amounts until the terms of the restriction have been met. 
 

Investment income on short-term investments and care and maintenance deposits are included in the General 

Fund Statement of Operations. Interest income and dividends are recognized when earned on the accrual basis. 

Realized capital gains and losses are recognized when realized on the transaction dates. Changes in fair value 

(unrealized capital gains and losses) are recognized in income in the applicable Fund during the year. 
 

All gains and losses from the sale, collection, or other disposition of investments and other non-cash assets are 

accounted for in the fund that owned the assets. 
 

Employee future benefits 
 

The Cemetery belongs to the General Synod Pension Plan, sponsored by the Anglican Church of Canada. The 

Cemetery and its eligible employees both contribute to the plan, with the percentages determined annually by 

the plan sponsor. 
 

Foreign currency translation 
 

Accounts in foreign currencies have been translated into Canadian dollars using the temporal method. Under this 

method, monetary assets and liabilities have been translated at the year end exchange rate. Non-monetary assets 

have been translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of transaction. Revenues and expenses have 

been translated at the average rates of exchange during the year, except for amortization, which has been 

translated at the same rate as the related assets. 
 

Foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities are included in the determination of 

earnings. 
 

(continues) 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Measurement uncertainty 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets 

and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any 

adjustments necessary are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could 

differ from these estimates. 
 

Financial instruments policy 
 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods, financial assets 

with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in income. 

All other financial instruments are subsequently reported at amortized cost, and tested for impairment at each 

reporting date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed when 

incurred. 
 

 

2. INTERNALLY RESTRICTED FUNDS FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS 
 

In 2020, the Cemetery embarked on a number of capital projects, including two additional sections of the 

Cemetery and to relocate the garage maintenance department to a separate building to free up space inside the 

main building for additional indoor niches. In 2021, the Cemetery chose to adjust the internally restricted cash 

to $2,000,000 towards the cost of these projects. 

By the end of 2022, the initial phase of these capital projects was substantially completed and the Cemetery was 

preparing to commence the next phase. As a result, the Cemetery determined that an internal restriction of 

$1,000,000 cash towards the phase two capital projects was appropriate. 
 

 

3. LETTER OF CREDIT 
 

Throughout the periods of cemetery land development, the City of Mississauga has required Letters of Credit 

before providing required approvals. These Letters of Credit must be supported by a cheque issued to the City. 

During 2020, the City required an additional Letter of Credit related to the development of additional cemetery 

sections and the development of a new maintenance garage building. Letters of Credit are released when the City 

determines that all development requirements have been met. During 2021, the City released a portion of the 

funds upon issuance of final approvals and certifications. 
 

 

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

 2022 2021 

 
Accounts receivable $ 495,178 $ 478,851 

 Investment income receivable 65,684 50,897 
 Harmonized sales tax rebate recoverable 74,214 22,506 

  
$ 635,076 $ 552,254 

Impairments recorded in both years was $Nil, and there were no recoveries during the current or prior year. 
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5. AMOUNTS DUE TO OR FROM THE CHURCH 

Amounts due to or from the Church division represent reimbursement for expenses paid on behalf of the other 

division.. 
 

 

6. LOAN FROM CARE AND MAINTENANCE TO GENERAL FUND 

On August 31, 2022, the regulator, the Bereavement Authority of Ontario (BAO), approved a request to borrow 

from the Care and Maintenance Fund in the amount of $466,489 to increase the capacity of the Cemetery by 

establishing an indoor and outdoor columbarium at the current site. Any amounts not used for the approved 

purpose must be repaid within 10 business days. 

2022 2021 
 

Loan payable to Care and Maintenance Fund; non-interest bearing; 

repayable in 5 equal annual payments; first repayment due December 

31, 2023 $ 466,489 $ - 
 

Principal repayment terms are approximately: 
 

2023 $ 93,298 

2024 93,298 

2025 93,298 

2026 93,298 

2027 93,297 
 

$ 466,489 

 
 

7. IMPLANT RECYCLING PROGRAM 
 

The Cemetery entered into an agreement with an implant recycling company at the beginning of 2013. Under 

this agreement, the recycling company provides non-monetary redeemable points for recycled implants which 

can be used to fund cremator operating supplies. Each point is valued at $1 USD. 

Until the COVID-19 pandemic, activity was quite low, and the amounts were not reflected in the financial 

statements of the Cemetery. 

The opening balance of the 2021 Net Assets on the Statement of Changes in Net Assets has been increased by 

$84,488, reflecting the cumulative effect of the program from 2013 to 2020. The 2021 Statement of Revenues 

and Expenditures has been increased by $44,682 to reflect the net revenues generated by the program in 2021. 

The following is a summary of the transactions since the inception of the program (in Canadian dollars): 
 

 2013 to 2022  
 

2013 through 2020 (8 years) 

Implant recycling points earned $ 131,093 

Implant point redeemed (65,128) 

Gain on conversion of USD balance at year-end 18,523- 

-  

-                                                                                                                                                         84,488 

(continues) 
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7. IMPLANT RECYCLING PROGRAM 
(continued) 

  

 2013 to 2022  
 

2021 
  

Implant recycling points earned  48,763 
Implant point redeemed  (4,891) 

Gain on conversion of USD balance at year-end  810 

- 
- 

  
44,682 

 

 

2022 
   

Implant recycling points earned  68,732  

Implant point redeemed  (17,373)  

Gain on conversion of USD balance at year-end  9,563 

- 
- 

 

  
60,922 

 

   
$ 190,092 

 

    

 

8. CAPITAL ASSETS 
  

2022 

 

2021 

Cost Accumulated 
amortization 

Net book 
value 

Net book 
value 

 

Building $ 6,694,670 
 

$ 1,679,570 
 

$ 5,015,100 
 

$ 2,875,043 

Cemetery land 3,661,831 - 3,661,831 3,508,321 

Cemetery equipment 648,534 412,368 236,166 184,046 

Columbarium 1,071,181 251,332 819,847 637,211 

Furniture and equipment 235,722 175,052 60,670 89,732 

Grounds improvements 133,387 56,235 77,152 21,634 

Motor vehicles 128,025 120,230 7,795 18,417 

Computer equipment 103,110 62,660 40,450 54,827 

Computer software 51,062 27,740 23,322 27,451 

Sign 36,948 36,948 - - 
Canadian original artwork 467 444 23 32 

 

$ 12,764,937 
 

$ 2,822,579 
 

$ 9,942,356 
 

$ 7,416,714 

In 2022, the Cemetery made significant capital improvements totaling approximating $2,853,000. The more 

significant investments included $2,200,000 for the new shop building; $206,000 in columbariums, ,$154,000 

in Section GG cemetery land development, $82,000 in cremator improvements, $64,000 in land improvements 

and $64,000 in cemetery equipment. 
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9. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS 
2022 2021 

 

 

Pre-Need Trust Funds 

Pre-need trust investments $ 2,459,929 $ 2,271,311 
 

 

These funds are invested in guaranteed investment certificates generating market rate interest income, which is 

added to the value of the certificate. They are tracked by contract number in individual trust accounts, 

 

Perpetual Care and Maintenance Investments 

Perpetual care and maintenance investments 8,099,517 9,024,483 
 

 

These funds are invested in a balanced portfolio managed by an external financial advisor. Investments meet 

guidelines established by the regulatory authority, in addition to internally established guidelines. 

 

Unrestricted Investments 
Mutual fund investment 721,498 662,785 
Synod consolidated Investment pool 1,432,651 1,514,685 

 
2,154,149 2,177,470 

 

The mutual fund is invested with TD Bank The investment consists of three separate funds - a monthly income 

fund and two balanced funds. 

The second investment consists of funds pooled with other parishes in the Diocese, and is managed and 

invested according to guidelines established by the Diocese. 
 
 

$ 12,713,595 $ 13,473,264 
 

 
 

10. PERFORMANCE BONUS PROGRAM 
 

The Cemetery has a performance bonus program to reward eligible employees for outstanding performance 

throughout the year. The funds available for distribution in any year is based on the prior year's audited results, 

adjusted for certain items. If the adjusted revenues over expenditures exceeds $500,000, 10-15% of the excess 

amount is available is set aside for a Bonus Pool. Program details explain how an employee may become eligible 

for a bonus up to a maximum of 10% of their annual salary if their performance evaluation exceeds specified 

targets. 
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11. PROFESSIONAL FEES  
2022 

 
2021 

 
Consulting fees $ 4,947 $ 17,571 

 Accounting, auditing and business advisory services 39,050 38,302 

  
$ 43,997 $ 55,873 

 

Consulting fees primarily include legal amounts, employment-related matters, and other professional fees for 

due diligence on potential capital projects. 
 

Accounting, auditing and business advisory services includes such items as the statutory audit, tax reporting, 

and payroll services. 
 

 

12. PENSION BENEFITS 
 

The Church belongs to the General Synod Pension Plan for the Anglican Church of Canada. It is a multi- 

employer defined benefit plan in which both the employer and employee make annual contributions. It is being 

accounted for as a defined contribution plan, in common with other multi-employer plans, because sufficient 

information is not available from the pension plan to use defined benefit accounting. 
 

The plan has been declared a Specified Ontario Multi-Employer Pension Plan (SOMEPP) in accordance with 

Section 6.0.3 of Regulation 909 of the Pension Benefits Act of Ontario. As such, the plan does not require a 

special exemption from solvency funding requirement, and the plan is funded on a going concern basis. 
 

In the unlikely event that the plan wound up and there was a shortage of assets needed to pay the benefits owed 

to members, benefits would be reduced. 
 

Permanent funding rules for this type of plan have not been finalized by the government; in the interim, any 

previously required solvency payments are technically deferred until 2024. 
 

An actuarial valuation was conducted as of January 1, 2020, applying these new funding rules. 
 

During the year, the Cemetery's employer contributions to the plan totaled $103,024 (2021 - $91,981) 
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13. CONTRACT WITH TURNER & PORTER 
 

In October 2012, Turner & Porter Funeral Directors Limited ("Turner & Porter") entered into a ten-year 

agreement with the Cemetery to build and operate a third retort (cremator) on the Cemetery's premises. Turner 

& Porter agreed to acquire, fund and install the retort under the direction and control of the Cemetery. Both 

parties also agreed the Cemetery would manage the operation of the retort as part of its overall operation of the 

Crematorium. Major repairs would be undertaken by the Cemetery at Turner & Porter's cost. 
 

It was further agreed that the retort would be owned by Turner & Porter for the duration of the agreement, with 

ownership to transfer to the Cemetery at the termination of the agreement. The purchase price would be the 

undepreciated cost of the retort, using Canada Revenue Agency acceptable capital cost allowance rates. In the 

event that Turner & Porter gives notice of termination prior to to the end of the agreement, the purchase price 

would be waived. 
 

There is an exclusivity clause in the agreement. The Cemetery is not permitted to enter into any similar 

agreements during the term of the agreement. 
 

The agreement specifies that the Cemetery is entitled to retain 55% of the fees earned on Turner & Porter 

cremations. 
 

The retort became fully operational in April of 2013. 
 

On November 17, 2022 the Cemetery and Turner & Porter entered into a renewal agreement for an additional 10 

years, with the following changes in terms and conditions: 
 

There is no exclusivity clause in the renewal agreement 
 

A cap of 1,100 cremations per year for this retort, based on the practical capacity of the retort 
 

Turner & Porter shall be entitled to 15% of the cremation fees for any cremations in excess of the 1,100 

cap, to a maximum of 1,250 cremations 
 

 

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

The Cemetery is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a comprehensive risk 

management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides 

information about the Cemetery's risk exposure and concentration as of December 31, 2022. 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The Cemetery is 

exposed to credit risk from customers. In order to reduce its credit risk, the Cemetery does not provide services 

in advance of full payment for individual consumer customers. An allowance for doubtful accounts for funeral 

home and other customers is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific accounts, 

historical trends and other information. The Cemetery has a significant number of customers which minimizes 

concentration of credit risk. 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 

liabilities. The Cemetery is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds from its customers 

and other related sources, contributions to the pension plan, and accounts payable. 
 

(continues) 
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(c) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is the risk to the company's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange rates and 

the degree of volatility of these rates. The Cemetery is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk on 

investments held in U.S. dollars. The company does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to 

foreign currency risk. 
 

(d) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in 

the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Cemetery manages 

exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The Cemetery is exposed to interest rate risk 

primarily through its long term investments. 
 

(e) Other price risk 
 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether 

those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 

affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Cemetery is exposed to other price risk 

through its investment in quoted shares. 
 

 

15. INCOME TAX STATUS 
 

St. John the Baptist Anglican Church Cemetery, "the Cemetery", is a of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church. 

The Church was founded in 1827, as a non profit organization without share capital. It is a registered charity, 

and accordingly qualifies for tax-exempt status under the Income Tax Act. 
 

 

16. COVID-19 
 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic due to the novel coronavirus 

(COVID-19). As of the date of issuing these financial statements, this pandemic continues. 

As at December 31, 2022, the Cemetery has had many changes in its operations as a result of the COVID-19 

crisis. The organization was deemed an essential service and was able to continue operations, with significant 

changes in the way it provided its services to the public. 

The pandemic is expected to continue to have an impact on the entity, though not significant, for example, in 

relation to expected future performance, or the effects on some future asset valuations. 
 

 

17. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 

Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 
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Statement of Revenue and Cost of Sales (Schedule 1) 

Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 

General Fund Restricted Funds Total Total 

2022 2022 2022 2021 
 

 
 

REVENUES  

Cremation fees $ 2,407,670 $ - $ 2,407,670 $ 2,343,469 

Burial plot sales 562,020 - 562,020 689,315 

Chapel rental 470,399 - 470,399 386,911 
Foundations, monuments and    

markers 311,642 - 311,642 367,675 

Openings 246,736 - 246,736 226,579 

Niches 159,043 - 159,043 175,478 

Implant Recycling points earned 68,732 - 68,732 48,762 

Lettering 67,770 - 67,770 73,478 

Catering services 66,316 - 66,316 23,537 
Other revenues 49,303 - 49,303 37,823 

 
4,409,631 - 4,409,631 4,373,027 

COST OF SALES 
    

Direct wages and 
benefits (Notes 10, 12) 

 
683,885 

 
- 

 
683,885 

 
615,758 

Turner & Porter rebates (Note 13) 309,928 - 309,928 285,403 

Funeral home rebates 287,302 - 287,302 271,631 

Utilities 243,768 - 243,768 193,052 

Purchases 203,104 - 203,104 234,256 

Repairs and maintenance 149,478 - 149,478 108,365 

Supplies 80,832 - 80,832 75,971 

Catering and hostesses 52,234 - 52,234 20,151 

Vehicle 33,147 - 33,147 28,391 

Implant Recycling points     

redeemed 17,373 - 17,373 4,891 

Waste disposal 14,467 - 14,467 8,863 
Training 12,744 - 12,744 10,832 

 
2,088,262 - 2,088,262 1,857,564 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER 
   

COST OF SALES $ 2,321,369 $ - $ 2,321,369 $ 2,515,463 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See notes to financial statements 
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 St. John's Dixie Cemetery Crematorium Budget 2023 

REVENUE 
 

 

 
BUDGE

T 

2023 

AUDITE
D 

2022 

BUDGE
T 

2022 

AUDITE
D 

2021 
 

 
 

 
CEMETERY PLOTS 

CHAPEL 

RENTAL 

OPENINGS 

NICHES 

MONUMENTS 

LETTERING 

 

CATERING 

IMPLANT 

RECYCLING 

68,732 48,762 

OTHER REVENUES 
  

TOTAL REVENUE  3,787,500  4,098,128  3,504,515   4,087,624 

 

 

 
- 

- 

570,000 562,020 510,000 689,315 
 

400,000 470,399 325,000 386,911 
 

220,000 246,736 190,000 226,579 
 

160,000 144,158 110,000 170,463 
 

345,000 326,528 337,015 372,690 
 

63,000 67,770 60,000 73,478 
 

100,000 66,316 40,000 23,537 
 

       29,500   47,726   32,500   86,586 
 

CREMATION FEES 

T&P CREMATION 

FEES 

LESS: T&P 

REBATE(45%) 

CREMATION TOTAL 

 

1,533,333 1,718,942 1,533,333 1,709,241 

666,667 688,728 666,667 634,228 

      

(300,000) 

 (309,928)  (300,000)  (285,403) 

1,900,000 2,097,743 1,900,000 2,058,066 
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St. John's Dixie Cemetery Crematorium Budget 2023 

SCHEDULE OF DIRECT COST 

 

 

 

 

 
PRODUCT PURCHASES 

FOR RE-SALE 
 

DIRECT WAGES 
 

OVERHEAD EXPENSES 
 

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
 

CATERING & HOSTESSES 
 

UTILITIES 
 

SUPPLIES 
 

WASTE DISPOSAL 
 

VEHICLES 
 

TRAINING 
 

OTHER DIRECT COSTS 

 
TOTAL OVERHEAD 
EXPENSES 

636,250 604,039 518,700 450,516 

 
TOTAL DIRECT COSTS 1,630,105 1,491,028 1,470,308 1,300,530 

BUDGE
T 

2023 

AUDITE
D 

2022 

BUDGE
T 

2022 

AUDITE
D 

2021 

231,500 203,104 252,200 234,256 

 
762,355 683,885 699,408 615,758 
 

993,855 886,989 951,608 850,014 
 

143,500 149,475 137,500 108,365 
 

70,000 52,234 36,000 20,151 
 

269,500 243,768 205,000 193,052 
 

83,000 98,205 76,000 80,862 
 

15,000 14,467 12,000 8,863 
 

37,750 33,147 34,700 28,391 
 

17,500 12,744 17,500 10,832 
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St. John's Dixie Cemetery Crematorium 
Budget 2023 

 
 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
 BUDGE

T 

2023 

AUDITE
D 

2022 

BUDGE
T 

2022 

AUDITE
D 

2021 
REVENUE 3,787,500 4,098,128 3,504,515 4,087,624 

 

DIRECT COSTS 
 
 

   2,157,395  2,607,100  2,034,207   2,787,093 

 

EXPENSES 

 

 

PROFESSIONAL FEES 
 

TOTAL OFFICE EXPENSES 
 

BANK CHARGES 
 

BUSINESS INSURANCE 
 

TELEPHONE 
 

BAD DEBT EXPENSE 

 
HST expense (26,000) (24,887) (25,000) (24,676) 

TOTAL EXPENSES  1,115,397  1,057,039   1,003,569   996,626 

 

 

 

 

AMORTIZATION OF CAPITAL ASS 

 
INVESTMENT INCOME 225,000 244,886 200,000 195,371 

GAIN OR LOSS/INVESTMENTS   (1,026,046)  1,095,945 

REINVESTED     

EXCESS REVENUE OVER 
EXPENSE   

916,998  441,960   915,638   2,766,986 

45,000 43,997 57,000 55,873 
 

91,500 88,814 88,150 76,397 
 

67,500 72,332 65,000 65,283 
 

26,000 23,877 23,000 22,204 
 

11,000 8,528 11,000 10,419 
 

350,000 326,940 315,000 314,798 
 

   1,630,105  1,491,028  1,470,308   1,300,530 
 

SALARIES & BENEFITS 

Termination expense 

PROMOTION/ADVERTISI
NG 
 

600,397 537,305 544,419 492,921 

300,000 307,073 240,000 298,204 

 

EXCESS OF 
REVENUE 

OVER EXPENSES 

 

   1,041,998  1,550,061  1,030,638   1,790,467 

 



St. John's Dixie Cemetery Crematorium Budget 2023 

 

Capital Budget 2023 
 

 
 

Account Reference Cost 

 

 

 

 
 

Total Cemetery Equipment  $ -  

Facilities  

Cremation Unit # 1- Rebuilt $ 60,000.00 

Parking pavement $ 180,000.00 

 

 
Vehicle 

 

 
Total Building Repairs 

 

 
Total Others 

 

 
 

Grand Total $ 240,000.00 
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$ -  

 $ 240,000.00  $ - 

 

$ - 

 $ -  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 

 

To the Wardens of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church Church Division 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church, Church Division, (the organization), 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the statements of changes in net 

assets, revenues and expenditures and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the organization as at December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO) 
 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the organization in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

ASNPO, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the organization's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the organization's financial reporting process. 

 

 

 

 
(continues)
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Wardens of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church Church Division (continued) 

 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

⚫ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

⚫ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

organization’s internal control. 

⚫ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

⚫ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the organization’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the organization to cease to continue as a going concern. 

⚫ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

 

Mississauga, Ontario McCann & Roque Chartered Professional Accountants 

February 16, 2023  Professional Corporation 

 

Authorized to practise public accounting by the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 
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 Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2022 

 

  
2022 2021 

  
ASSETS 

  

CURRENT    

Cash - General Fund  $ 87,049 $ 61,288 

Cash - Heritage Preservation Fund  27,386 27,386 

Cash - Special Reserve Fund  15,000 15,000 

Accounts receivable (Note 2)  18,283 13,168 

Due from Cemetery division  - 2,836 
Harmonized sales tax receivable  1,137 3,070 

 
148,855 122,748 

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 3) 1,089,781 1,089,526 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 4) 2,226 2,968 

SYNOD INVESTMENT FUND (Note 5) 59,234 62,627 

RECTORY FUND - RESTRICTED (Note 6) 626,105 675,594 

ENDOWMENT FUND INVESTMENT (Note 8) 644,707 712,503 

 
$ 2,570,908 $ 2,665,966 

 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

  

CURRENT    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 17,650 $ 19,336 

Due to Cemetery division 6,082 - 

Employee source deductions payable 504 - 

Deferred donations - Carillon (Note 10) 9,457 10,020 
Deferred donations - Rector's Discretionary Outreach (Note 11) 4,554 - 

 
38,247 29,356 

NET ASSETS 2,532,661 2,636,610 

 
$ 2,570,908 $ 2,665,966 

 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 

  

  People's Warden 
  

  Rector's Warden   
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Year Ended 

December 31, 2022 
 

  

 
2021 

Balance 

Excess 

(Deficiency) of 

Revenues over 

Expenditures 

 

 
Cemetery 

Funding 

 

 
Interfund 

Transfers 

 

 
2022 

Balance 

 
General Fund 

 
$ 116,450 

 
$ (103,879) 

 
$ 180,588 

 
$ (63,479) 

 
$ 129,680 

Rectory Fund 675,593 (49,488) - - 626,105 

Capital Assets Fund 1,089,677 (63,373) - 63,479 1,089,783 

Endowment (Bequest) Fund 712,503 (67,796) - - 644,707 

Heritage Fund 27,386 - - - 27,386 

Special Reserve Fund 15,000 - - - 15,000 

 
$ 2,636,609 $ (284,536) $ 180,588 $ - $ 2,532,661 

The $180,588 in funding from the Cemetery was composed of $125,500 in recurring transfers (2021 - $126,539) and 

$55,088 in non-recurring transfers used for capital improvements. 
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Statement of Revenues and Expenditures Year Ended 

December 31, 2022 
 

 
2022 2021 

 

REVENUES 

  

General Operations (Schedule 1) $ 254,031 $ 260,777 

Rectory investment income 25,040 23,615 

Endowment investment income 18,000 19,445 

Designated Funds (Schedule 3) 3,201 3,600 
Synod investment income 2,339 2,165 

 
302,611 309,602 

EXPENSES 
  

Salaries and benefits (Note 15) 130,205 102,490 

Priest salaries and benefits (Note 15) 99,258 99,097 

Church Property (Schedule 2) 53,091 45,907 

Support of Diocese 47,558 46,928 

General Operations (Schedule 1) 53,941 69,770 
Designated Funds (Schedule 3) 3,443 2,649 

 
387,496 366,841 

DEFICIENCY OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES FROM 
  

OPERATIONS (84,885) (57,239) 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) 
  

Amortization of capital assets (63,373) (60,574) 

Amortization of intangible assets (742) (742) 

Endowment investment loss provision - (90,227) 

Endowment unrealized gain (loss) on investment fair value adjustment (67,796) 30,723 

Synod Fund unrealized gain (loss) on investment fair value adjustment (5,731) 6,439 
Rectory Fund unrealized gain (loss) on investment fair value adjustment (62,009) 70,237 

 
(199,651) (44,144) 

DEFICIENCY OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES $ (284,536) $ (101,383) 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Year Ended December 31, 

2022 
 

2022 2021 
 

 
 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Deficiency of revenues over expenses $ (284,536) $ (101,383) 

Items not affecting cash:   

Amortization of capital assets 63,373 60,574 

Amortization of intangible assets 742 742 

Endowment investment loss provision - 90,227 
Unrealized (gain) loss on investment fair value adjustment 135,536 (107,400) 

 
(84,885) (57,240) 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
  

Accounts receivable (5,115) (1,627) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,684) (8,155) 

Deferred donations - Carillon (563) (563) 

Deferred donations - Discretionary 4,554 - 

Harmonized sales tax receivable 1,933 (963) 

Due to from Cemetery (8,918) (8,364) 
Employee source deductions payable 504 - 

 
(9,289) (19,672) 

Cash flow used by operating activities (94,174) (76,912) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of capital assets 

 

(61,884) 

 

(22,282) 

Proceeds on disposal of capital assets 1,231 - 

Purchase of intangible assets - (892) 
Reinvested dividends, net of withdrawals - (15,417) 

 

Cash flow used by investing activities (60,653) (38,591) 
 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Recurring transfers from the Cemetery 125,500 126,539 
Non-recurring transfers from the Cemetery 55,088 - 

Cash flow from financing activities 180,588 126,539 

INCREASE IN CASH FLOW 25,761 11,036 

Cash - beginning of year 103,674 92,638 

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 129,435 $ 103,674 
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PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION 
 

St. John the Baptist Anglican Church operates a Church, cemetery and crematorium in Mississauga offering 

services to the parishioners and members of the public. 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Basis of presentation 
 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations (ASNFPO). 
 

These financial statements include only the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the Church division. 

The Cemetery division prepares separate audited financial statements, and these are available upon request. 
 

Fund accounting 
 

St. John the Baptist Anglican Church ('Church") follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. 

Under fund accounting, resources for various purposes are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into 

funds established according to their nature and purpose. 
 

General Fund 
 

This fund includes the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses related to program delivery and 

administrative activities 
 

Investment Fund(s) 
 

Revenues and expenses related to investment activities are reported in the applicable investment Fund. 

Funds include the Synod Investment Fund, Rectory Fund. and Endowment (Bequest) Fund. 
 

Capital Asset Fund 
 

This fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses related to the Church Division's capital 

assets. 
 

Heritage Preservation Fund 
 

This fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses associated with the maintenance and upkeep 

of the Church's structure or operations. 
 

Endowment (Bequest) Fund 
 

This fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses associated with the bequest of a former 

parishioner. 
 

Special Reserve Fund 
 

This fund, internally restricted by the Church, reports the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses 

associated with the special reserve fund. The fund was created in 2016 with an initial designation of 

$15,000, and is intended to cover unforeseen expenses. 
 

(continues) 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and fixed income investments with maturities of less than 90 

days. 
 

Capital assets 
 

Capital assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization. Capital assets are amortized over 

their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basisat the following rates and methods: 
 

Building 40 years straight-line method 

Building Roof 15 years straight-line method 

Land  non-depreciable 

Furniture and fixtures 5 years straight-line method 

Carillon 20 years straight-line method 

Sign 5 years straight-line method 

Computer equipment 5 years straight-line method 

Artwork 5 years straight-line method 
Godly Play resource materials 5 years straight-line method 

 

The organization regularly reviews its capital assets to eliminate obsolete items. 
 

Capital assets acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized until they are placed into use. 

Intangible assets 

The website development costs are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of five 

years. 
 

Intangible assets acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized until they are placed into 

use. 
 

Long term investments 

Investments for which there are quoted prices in an active market are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains or 

losses are reported as part of net income. Investments for which there is not an active market are carried at 

amortized cost except when it is established that their value is impaired. Impairment losses, or reversal of 

previously recognized impairment losses, are reported as part of net income. 
 

Revenue recognition 
 

Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. 

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received 

can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Endowment contributions are recognized as 

direct increases in net assets. 
 

Unrestricted investment income is recognized as revenue when earned. Restricted investment income is 

recognized as revenue in the restricted fund. 
 

Fees for rentals are recognized as revenue when the service has been provided. 
 

All gains and losses from the sale, collection, or other disposition of investments and other non-cash assets are 

accounted for in the fund that owned the assets. 
 

(continues) 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Employee future benefits 
 

The organization belongs to two pension plans sponsored by Synod, for the benefit of its employees and 

ministers. 
 

The Church and its eligible ministers both contribute to the ministers' pension plan, with the amounts 

determined annually by Synod. 
 

The Church and its eligible employees both contribute to the employees' plan, with the percentages 

determined annually by Synod. 
 

Foreign currency translation 
 

Investments within the Endowment Fund have been translated into Canadian dollars using the temporal method. 

Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities have been translated at the year end exchange rate. Investment 

revenues and expenses have been translated at the average rates of exchange during the year. 
 

Foreign exchange gains and losses on investments are included in the determination of earnings, as part of the 

net investment income. 
 

Measurement uncertainty 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets 

and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any 

adjustments necessary are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could 

differ from these estimates. 
 

Contributed services 
 

The operations of the organization depend on both the contribution of time by volunteers and donated materials 

from various sources. The fair value of donated materials and services cannot be reasonably determined and are 

therefore not reflected in these financial statements. 
 

The value of contributed space for outreach programs is reflected at the market value paid by other parties, and 

is reflected as a non-monetary transaction in both revenues and expenditures. 
 

Financial instruments 
 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods, financial assets 

with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in income. 

All other financial instruments are subsequently reported at amortized cost, and tested for impairment at each 

reporting date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed when 

incurred. 
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2. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

2022 2021 
 

 

Accounts receivable $ 18,283 $ 13,168 
 

Accounts receivable consist of donations deposited shortly after year-end, and amounts related to the 

Cemetery's catering rebate programs. 
 

Impairments recorded in both years was $Nil, and there were no recoveries during the current or prior year. 

There was no allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 

 

3. CAPITAL ASSETS    
2022 

 
2021 

 Cost Accumulated 
amortization 

Net book 
value 

Net book 
value 

 

Building 
 

$ 2,054,566 
 

$ 1,041,116 
 

$ 1,013,450 
 

$ 1,004,609 

Land 43,401 - 43,401 43,401 

Furniture and fixtures 115,889 111,743 4,146 4,760 

Carillon 11,251 1,125 10,126 10,688 

Sign 17,669 15,902 1,767 5,301 

Computer equipment 23,163 7,274 15,889 19,765 

Artwork 4,400 4,400 - - 
Godly Play resource materials 1,002 - 1,002 1,002 

  

$ 2,271,341 
 

$ 1,181,560 
 

$ 1,089,781 
 

$ 1,089,526 

     

 

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
   

2022 

 

2021 

 
Website development $ 3,710 $ 3,710 

 Accumulated amortization (1,484) (742) 

  
$ 2,226 $ 2,968 

    

 

5. 
 

SYNOD INVESTMENT FUND 
  

  2022 2021 

 
Synod investment fund, beginning of year $ 62,627 $ 54,023 

 Investment income 2,338 2,165 
 Unrealized gain (loss) on fair value adjustment (5,731) 6,439 

  
$ 59,234 $ 62,627 

 

This investment consists of funds pooled with other parishes in the Diocese, and is managed and invested 

according to guidelines established by the Diocese. The investment is not internally or externally restricted, and 

its future use will be determined by the Church. 
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6. RECTORY FUND - RESTRICTED INVESTMENT 
 

The Church Rectory was sold in 2006. Based on Canon 6 of the Diocese of Toronto ("Synod"), the net proceeds 

of $358,996 were forwarded to the Diocese. 
 

As required, these funds were invested in the St. John Dixie Rectory Fund. This Fund is restricted in that the 

capital may only be used for the purchase of a replacement Rectory. 
 

The Fund pays dividends on a quarterly basis. Under Diocesan policy, 50% of this dividend is unrestricted and 

is paid to the Parish. The remaining 50% is restricted and must be reinvested in the capital of the Fund. The 

Parish intends to use the unrestricted portion of the quarterly dividend to partially offset the Minister's monthly 

housing allowance. 
 

The unrestricted 50% of investment income for the Fund in 2022 was $12,520 (2021 - $11,808). 
 

 2022 2021 

 
Opening balance $ 675,594 $ 593,550 

 Investment income 25,040 23,615 
 Unrealized gain (loss) on fair value adjustment (62,009) 70,237 
 Reinvested portion of dividends (12,520) (11,808) 

  
$ 626,105 $ 675,594 

    

 

7. 
 

HERITAGE PRESERVATION FUND 
  

 

The Heritage Preservation Fund was established in 1998 to replace the Heritage Fund established in 1983, and 

is maintained through freewill gifts from members and friends of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church. The 

stated purpose of the fund is: 
 

When an immediate repair or replacement relating to the structure and/ or good operation of the Church, or 

the attached church hall, the cost of which is estimated at more than $5,000 is deemed necessary by all three 

members of the corporation (the Incumbent, the People's Warden and the Rector's Warden), and when the 

general account of the church cannot support such expenditure, the said Church is empowered to use any 

portion of the principal and interest of the Heritage Preservation Fund to accomplish such repair or 

replacement. 
 

Heritage Fund balance $ 27,386   $ 27,386 
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8. ENDOWMENT FUND (BEQUEST) 
 

In 2010, the Church was notified that it had been included in a will and on the death of the last survivor, that the 

residue of the estate would be paid to St. John the Baptist Church. This bequest was to be permanently held in 

trust by the Church, with any income earned on the endowment to be used by the Church for general purposes. 

The original gift totaled $812,272 and was received over the period 2015 to 2017. 
 

During the Vestry meeting held in February 2020, the parish approved the following motion: 
 

That the corporation be allowed to redeem up to 50% of the appreciation of the Endowment Fund (Bequest) 

based on the year end financials, the percentage to be determined on an annual basis. In any event the initial 

donation of $812,272 must be maintained before any redemptions can be considered. The amount would be 

recorded as receivable/ income in the year it relates to and would be paid out shortly thereafter. 
 

During 2020, the Church was faced with the need to replace the roof at an estimated cost of $100,000 and there 

were insufficient funds available in the Heritage Preservation Fund. The Church obtained the following legal 

advice "While the Will and the terms regarding the endowment to the Church are quite short, it is clear that the 

Church is both Trustee of the funds and the beneficiary of them. This means that the Church (as beneficiary) can 

consent to the encroachment on the capital by the Trustee." 
 

Because of COVID-19, it was not possible to call a special Vestry meeting. The Church advised the congregation 

by email of the proposed encroachment, permitting time for concerns or opposition before acting on behalf of 

Vestry. 
 

 2022 2021 

Opening balance $ 712,503 $ 770,562 

Investment income, net of fees 18,000 19,445 

Investment income paid to the Church (18,000) (18,000) 

Withdrawal for roof replacement - - 

Endowment investment loss provision - (90,227) 
Unrealized gain (loss) on fair value adjustment (67,796) 30,723 

 
$ 644,707 $ 712,503 

These funds are invested in a balanced portfolio managed by an external financial advisor. Investments meet 

guidelines established by the Church. 
 

During 2021, the Church was notified that the Ontario Securities Commission had placed one of the endowment 

investments into a court-approved receivership. Some time later, the investment market value was removed from 

the investment statement, as the value was indeterminate. As of December 31, 2022 the case was still in the 

Courts and proceeds to be received or future market value was not known. 
 

 

9. COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 
 

At Vestry 2020, the parish agreed to a sabbatical year in which all committee activity would be paused to 

allow parishioners a season of rest. The members of both the Women's Group and Outreach Committees met 

and agreed to disband their groups, pending discussion about reforming. Due to the pandemic, those 

discussions have yet to happen. Both groups agreed that for this interim period their balances would be 

transferred directly to general operations of the Church. It was also agreed by both groups that going forward 

they would not have separate accounts of their own but that any money raised by future Women's Group or 

Outreach Committee would go directly to the General Operations. 
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10. DEFERRED DONATIONS - CARILLON 
 

In 2020, certain members of the parish donated sufficient funds to permit the replacement of the Carillon in the 

Bell Tower. These donations will be recognized in revenues each year in an amount matching the related annual 

depreciation expense. 
 

 

11. DEFERRED DONATIONS - RECTOR'S DISCRETIONARY OUTREACH 

In 2022, the Rector's Discretionary Outreach fund received significant donations. Outreach donations not used 

before year-end have been deferred and will be recognized as revenue at the time the related outreach 

expenditures are made. 
 

 

12. NON-MONETARY OUTREACH PROGRAMS 

As part of its outreach programs, the Church provides programming space to eligible organizations at no cost. 

These transactions are accounted for at the fair market value of the space provided. During the year, these 

transactions totaled $15,313 (2021 - $16,250). 
 

 

13. PARISH FAMILY OUTREACH 

Significant financial assistance was required to help a parish family during 2021. As the Priest's Discretionary 

Fund could not meet these needs, the parish reached out to the wider community to raise the needed funds. The 

response was overwhelmingly generous and $18,133 was raised through Canada Helps - of which $18,000 was 

given to the family. None of these funds came from the Outreach budget and allowed the priest to assist others 

in the parish with money from the Discretionary Fund. 
 

 

14. BEQUEST 

The Church received a bequest during 2021 in the amount of $15,000 (2022 - $Nil). This amount has 

been included in the General fund because their were no restrictions imposed in the will. 
 

 

15. SALARIES AND BENEFITS 
 2022 2021 

 
Priest Salaries and Benefits (Note 16) 

Priest stipend 

 

$ 55,935 

 

$ 56,108 
 Pension and benefits 21,966 21,164 
 Housing allowance 20,532 21,000 
 Professional development 825 825 

  
99,258 99,097 

    

(continues) 
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15. SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued) 

2022 2021 
 

 

Salaries and benefits 
Secretarial 56,367 51,627 

Organist 24,860 23,629 

Musicians 17,225 10,550 

Benefits and statutory employer costs 17,392 15,834 

Youth worker 7,544 - 

Honorariums 6,817 850 

130,205 102,490 

$ 229,463 $ 201,587 
 

 
 

16. PENSION BENEFITS 
 

The Church belongs to the General Synod Pension Plan for the Anglican Church of Canada. It is a multi- 

employer defined benefit plan in which both the employer and employee make annual contributions. It is being 

accounted for as a defined contribution plan, in common with other multi-employer plans, because sufficient 

information is not available to use defined benefit accounting. 
 

The plan has been declared a Specified Ontario Multi-Employer Pension Plan (SOMEPP) in accordance with 

Section 6.0.3 of Regulation 909 of the Pension Benefits Act of Ontario. As such, the plan does not require a 

special exemption from solvency funding requirement, and the plan is funded on a going concern basis. 
 

In the unlikely event that the plan wound up and there was a shortage of assets needed to pay the benefits owed 

to members, benefits would be reduced. 
 

Permanent funding rules for this type of plan have not been finalized by the government; in the interim, any 

previously required solvency payments are technically deferred until 2024. 
 

An actuarial valuation was conducted as of January 1, 2020, applying these new funding rules. 

During the year, the Church's employer contributions to the plan totaled $6,963 (2021 - $6,651) 

 

17. SYNOD OF THE DIOCESE OF TORONTO 
 

The organization is a member of the Synod of the Diocese of Toronto, an organization providing leadership and 

governance to the churches in its geographical area. Each parish in the Diocese provides funding for Diocese's 

general operations. 

Services provided by Diocese include oversight and guidance, managing investment funds, and providing 

pension and other benefit programs on behalf of the parishes. The Diocese also holds the land and property of 

the parish in trust for the use of the congregation 

Each year, Synod assesses each parish in its diocese for administrative and other expenses required for operating 

the Synod. 
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

The organization is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a comprehensive risk 

management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides 

information about the organization's risk exposure and concentration as of December 31, 2022. 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The organization 

is exposed to credit risk from customers. Because of the nature of the organization's activities, credit risk is 

negligible. 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 

liabilities. The organization is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds from its parishioners 

and other related sources, contributions to the pension plan, and accounts payable. 
 

(c) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is the risk to the company's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange rates and 

the degree of volatility of these rates. The organization is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk on 

investments held in U.S. dollars. The company does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to 

foreign currency risk. 
 

(d) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in 

the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the organization manages 

exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The organization is exposed to interest rate 

risk primarily through its investments. 
 

(e) Other price risk 
 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether 

those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 

affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The organization is exposed to other price risk 

through its investment in quoted shares. 
 

Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the organization is not exposed to significant other price 

risks arising from these financial instruments. 
 

 

19. INCOME TAX STATUS 
 

St. John the Baptist Anglican Church was founded in 1827, as a non profit organization without share capital. It 

is a registered charity, and accordingly qualifies for tax-exempt status under the Income Tax Act. 
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20. COVID-19 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic due to the novel coronavirus 

(COVID-19). As of the date of issuing these financial statements, this pandemic continues. 

The government of Canada has provided subsidies and grants for eligible employers over this period and 

continues to do so. This has assisted management in successfully responding to the consequences of COVID- 

19. 

The pandemic is expected to continue to have an impact on the entity, though not significant, for example, in 

relation to expected future performance, or the effects on some future asset valuations. 
 

 

21. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 

Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 
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General Operations (Schedule 1) Year 

Ended December 31, 2022 
 

2022 2021 
 

 
 

REVENUE  

Envelope givings $ 122,949 $ 120,605 

Canada Helps donations 42,289 36,369 

Non envelope givings 24,862 9,249 

Cemetery rebate programs 22,094 21,354 

Outreach revenues - non-monetary (Note 12) 15,313 16,250 

Rector's discretionary - outreach (Note 11) 6,500 5,316 

Priest subsidies (Notes 17, 20) 9,008 8,159 

Hall and parking rental 6,639 7,396 

Miscellaneous income 3,817 2,946 

Special purpose outreach programs (Note 13) 560 18,133 
Bequests (Notes 14, 20) - 15,000 

 
254,031 260,777 

 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Outreach expenses - non-monetary (Note 12) 

 
 

15,313 

 
 

16,250 

Professional fees 10,819 9,930 

Office copier rental and usage charges 7,436 6,020 

Rector's discretionary - outreach (Note 11) 6,500 4,050 

Miscellaneous 2,542 3,616 

Office supplies 1,720 1,147 

Bank charges 652 802 

Sunday school 627 - 

Worship supplies 602 1,620 

Offertory envelopes 281 971 

Special purpose outreach programs (Note 13) 270 18,000 

Choir/ music ministry 85 59 

Calendars - 169 

Postage - 13 
Repairs and maintenance 7,094 7,123 

 
53,941 69,770 
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 Church Property 

Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 (Schedule 2) 

  
2022 2021 

 

CHURCH PROPERTY 

   

Utilities  $ 15,177 $ 16,810 

Insurance  15,023 12,786 

Caretaking  14,997 9,697 

Fire alarm inspection and repairs  3,973 2,315 

Elevator maintenance  2,399 1,713 

Telephone  1,522 1,415 
Computer support  - 1,171 

  
$ 53,091 $ 45,907 



  

 

Designated Funds (Schedule 3) 

Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 

2022 2021 
 

 
 

DESIGNATED FUNDS RECEIVED  

Flower fund $ 2,250 $ 2,225 

Recognition of donation for carillon (Note 10) 563 583 
Faithworks 388 792 

 
3,201 3,600 

 

DESIGNATED FUNDS DISBURSED 

Flower fund 

 
 

3,171 

 
 

2,017 
Faithworks 272 632 

 
3,443 2,649 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 
Audited 

2020 

Audited 

2021 

Audited 

2022 

 
Budget 2023 

 
Budget 2022 

Budget 2021 

Receipts from General Operations       

Open Collection 1,765.10 549.00 2,601.60 3,000.00 1,644.38 2,090.21 

Envelope Holder Givings 120,036.31 118,580.12 120,072.98 127,000.00 120,000.00 121,000.00 

Parishoners without envelops 8,934.00 8,700.00 22,260.00 15,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 

Special Envelope Holder Givings 3,275.00 2,025.00 2,876.00 3,000.00 2,500.00 4,000.00 

Donations from use of facilities 2,425.00 7,396.25 6,638.50 10,000.00 8,000.00 3,000.00 

Heritage Fund 3,417.41 582.57 562.57    

Miscellaneous Donations 2,615.43 2,853.60 3,620.77 3,000.00 2,500.00 1,500.00 

Canada Help 18,428.96 36,368.51 42,289.14 45,000.00 20,000.00 12,000.00 

Rebates from Cemetery 6,722.65 21,354.26 22,093.65 23,000.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 

Discretionary Fund 7,727.80 5,316.40 6,500.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 

Outreach Revenue Monetary 
   

1,500.00 
  

Outreach Revenue Non Monetary 
 

16,250.00 15,312.00 18,000.00 
  

Calendar sales  90.00 205.00  100.00 100.00 

Interest Income 3.78 2.03 (9.22)    

Subsidies & Grants  8,158.55 9,008.47    

Bequest  15,000.00     

Dividends Investment Fund (Rectory) 11,694.31 11,807.52 12,520.03 13,000.00 11,000.00  

Gain/Loss on Capital Items (7,059.00) 
     

Investment Income Bequest 18,000.00 18,000.00 18,000.00  15,000.00 12,000.00 

Unrealized Gain(loss) on Inv-R 2,725.64 70,237.40 (62,009.00)    

Reinvested Invest. Income Rec 57,335.68 15,417.29 14,858.89    

Realized G/L Bequest       

Unrealized G/L Bequest (42,307.00) (59,504.00) (67,796.00)    

Unrealized Gain(loss) on Investments 29,163.79 6,439.35 (5,731.42)    

Total Receipts 244,904.86 305,623.85 163,873.96 266,500.00 215,744.38 190,690.21 

       

Disbursements       

Personel       

Benefits - Employer Contr. 15,171.74 15,502.30 16,849.20 18,277.29 16,699.86 14,330.97 

Caretaking 7,378.65 9,696.69 14,997.10 15,000.00 10,000.00 8,000.00 

Honorarium 345.72 850.00 6,816.87 3,000.00 3,500.00 800.00 

Director of Music 23,580.00 23,628.99 24,859.82 27,061.35 23,399.88 23,399.88 

Church Administrator 49,354.83 51,626.77 56,367.34 60,475.69 56,456.40 47,050.73 

Priest stipend 41,902.11 56,107.56 55,935.12 61,718.32 57,790.79 56,707.56 

Priest Housing 15,750.00 21,000.00 20,532.10 21,000.00 21,000.00 21,000.00 

Priest Benefit & Pension 14,325.02 21,164.44 21,965.70 21,165.00 20,912.13 22,425.84 

Prfessional Development Priest 500.00 825.00 825.00 900.00 900.00 900.00 

WSIB 371.90 331.82 542.55 462.66 421.32 345.21 

Youth & Children Minister   7,127.94 6,500.00 6,188.00 - 

Travel   415.91    

Total - Personnel 168,679.97 200,733.57 227,234.65 235,560.32 217,268.38 194,960.18 

Property - church       

Elevator Maintenance 1,228.00 1,712.92 2,399.46 2,500.00 1,500.00 1,300.00 

Telephone 1,672.10 1,414.73 1,521.68 1,700.00 1,000.00 1,500.00 

Insurance 11,756.11 12,786.06 15,022.92 16,000.00 13,000.00 11,500.00 

Utilities 14,620.85 16,809.84 15,177.43 16,000.00 15,000.00 12,500.00 

Fire Alarm Inspection /Repair 1,636.54 2,315.25 3,972.58 3,000.00 2,500.00 2,000.00 



  

 

 
Audited 

2020 

Audited 

2021 

Audited 

2022 

 
Budget 2023 

 
Budget 2022 

Budget 

2021 

Total Property - church 30,913.60 35,038.80 38,094.07 39,200.00 33,000.00 28,800.00 

       

Support of Diocese 36,957.17 46,929.22 47,556.60 43,044.00 47,556.00 46,930.00 

Depreciation on Capital Assets 50,752.64 61,315.70 64,114.80    

Operating expenses       

Bank charges 146.12 390.74 238.56 300.00 250.00 150.00 

Bank Charges - PAR 372.00 411.18 413.40 500.00 420.00 400.00 

Discretionary Fund 10,003.32 4,050.00 6,500.00 7,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 

Outreach non Monetary expenses   15,312.00 18,000.00   

Calendars 82.63 169.42  200.00 100.00 100.00 

Music Ministry -Choir- Music Director 8,737.44 58.55 1,134.76 1,200.00  - 

Musicians 4,200.00 10,550.00 16,175.00 20,000.00 11,000.00 7,800.00 

Offertory Envelopes 905.25 971.42 281.06 300.00 250.00 1,000.00 

Repairs & maintenance 14,464.84 7,123.34 7,094.13 3,000.00 6,000.00 12,000.00 

Miscellaneous 1,857.15 2,909.87 2,119.28 2,500.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 

Membership Fees 796.30 706.05 423.09 800.00 700.00 850.00 

Office Expense 10,982.71 7,179.45 9,155.19 9,395.68 7,500.00 7,500.00 

Professional Fees 9,485.06 9,929.60 10,818.85 10,000.00 9,000.00 9,000.00 

Sunday School 146.43  627.14 1,500.00 1,500.00 - 

Worship supplies 1,216.43 1,619.80 602.13 3,000.00 700.00 700.00 

Computer Support  1,170.94 - 
   

 63,395.68 47,240.36 70,894.59 77,695.68 43,420.00 45,500.00 
       

Total Disbursements 350,699.06 391,257.65 447,894.71 395,500.00 341,244.38 316,190.18 

       

Operating excess (deficiency) (105,794.20) (85,633.80) (284,020.75) (129,000.00) (125,500.00) (125,499.97) 
       

Cemetery transfers    129,000.00 125,500.00 125,499.97 

Sign- One off Cemetery Transfer       

Excess of Revenue over Expenses (105,794.20) (85,633.80) (284,020.75) 0.00 0.00 (0.00) 

       

Designated funds received       

Faithworks 276.25 791.75 387.50   - 

Flower Fund 1,605.00 2,225.00 2,250.00    

Outreach  18,133.12 560.00    

Musician Fund       

Other       

Designated funds disbursed       

Faithworks (276.25) (631.55) (272.00)    

Flower Expense (330.26) (2,017.05) (3,170.59)    

Outreach  (18,000.00) (270.18)   - 

Outreach expenses Non Monetary  (16,250.00)     

Total Receipts less Disbursements (104,519.46) (101,382.53) (284,536.02) 0.00 0.00 (0.00) 

       
 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

Proposed Slate of Officers- 2023 
Elected by Vestry 

 

Treasurer     Sandra Aguilar 

Envelope Secretary    Lori Corbett 

Collection Committee Chair Fay Williams        

Lay Members to Synod   Bobby Briones 

        

Christian Education    Janice Kretchman 

Pastoral Care     Susan MacDonald 

Greeters co-ordinator   8:00 - ----------- Office  

Greeters co-ordinator   10:00 – ---------- Office 

Readers co-ordinator    8:00 -  ----------- Office 

Readers co-ordinator   10:00 – ---------- Office 

Servers Co-ordinator   8:00 – ----------- Office 

Servers Co-ordinator   10:00 – Susan Finlay 

 

Auditor     McCann & Roque Chartered Accountants 

Parochial Tribunal    Thelma Carter 

Cemetery Board Members    Mark O’Reilly 

George Lee Ting 

Elke Cruikshanks 

      Eric Savoury  

Advisory Board Members At Large Maggy Farnell        

      Lori Bailey  

 

Events Coordination Team   Keith Scott 

      Patty Bartlett      

Alternates: in emergency   Allan Morgan 

 

Flower Coordinator    ……………….   Office 

Coffee Hour Coordinator   Jedidah Njenga 

Chancel Guild Chair    ------------------ 
 

Appointed by Rector 

Rector’s Warden    Bobby Briones 

Chair of Cemetery    Eric Savoury 

 

 
 

Please note that the Advisory board chair will be selected at the first meeting when they resume. 

  



  

 

VESTRY MOTIONS 2023 
 

1.  Appointment of Vestry Clerk 

• “Moved by Barbara Kane, seconded by __________ that Lori Corbett be appointed Vestry Clerk.  

Carried. 
 

2.  Minutes of Vestry – March 6, 2022 

• “Moved by Lori Corbett, seconded by __________ that the minutes be adopted as circulated/amended.  

Carried. 
 

3.  Parochial Reports 

• “Moved by __________, seconded by __________ that the 2022 Parochial Reports be adopted as 

circulated/amended.  Carried. 
 

4.  Financial Report: Cemetery and Crematorium 2022 

• “Moved by Bobby Briones, seconded by _____________ that the Cemetery’s 2022 Financial Report be 

adopted as circulated/amended. Carried. 
 

5.  Cemetery and Crematorium Budget 2023 

• “Moved by Sandra Aguilar, seconded by _____________ that the Cemetery’s 2023 Budget be adopted 

as circulated/amended. Carried. 
 

6..  Financial Report: Church 2022 

• “Moved by Edith Davis, seconded by _____________ that the Church’s 2022 Financial Reports be 

adopted as circulated/amended. Carried. 
 

7..  Church Budget 2023 

• “Moved by Bobby Briones, seconded by _______________ that the Church’s 2023 Budget be adopted 

as circulated/amended. Carried. 
 

8..  Elections and Appointments 

• “Moved by Joanne Lubbock seconded by ________________ that the 2023 slate of officers be adopted 

as circulated/amended. Carried. 
 

 

9.  Annual Motions 

• “Moved by ______________, seconded by __________ that any two (2) of the Churchwardens and 

Deputy Wardens be authorized by Vestry to sign cheques for all parish accounts, one signature must be 

that of a church warden on the cheque for the Church and Cemetery. Carried. 
 

• “Moved by Joanne Lubbock, seconded by ____________ that the Envelope Secretary be authorized to 

sign official receipts for Income Tax purposes on behalf of the parish for the ensuing year. Carried. 
 

• “Moved by _______________, seconded by Bobby Briones that McCann & Roque Chartered 

Accountants be appointed Auditor for the fiscal year 2022. Carried. 

 

10. Diocese Vestry Motion 
 

• “Moved by Barbara Kane, seconded by ________________ that we, the Vestry of St. John the Baptist 

Anglican Church in the Diocese of Toronto, call on the Province of Ontario to double social assistance 

rates for both Ontario Works and the Ontario Disability Support Program, and thereafter to index these 

rates to inflation, so as to provide a safety net that enables people to meet their most basic needs.” 

 

 

The attached pages on support the background for the annual Diocesan motion.  



  

 

Social Justice Vestry Motion 2023: Raise the Rates 

Since 1995, when the provincial government of the day cut social assistance rates by 21.6% for 

recipients considered employable (a program now called Ontario Works or OW), to live on social 

assistance in this province has been to live in increasingly deep poverty. The modest rate increases 

applied to both Ontario Works and the Ontario Disability Support Program between 2003 and 2018 

did not even keep pace with inflation over that period, and after a 1.5% increase in fall of 2018, 

rates for both OW and ODSP were frozen for the next four years. Thus, even before the COVID-19 

pandemic, single people receiving ODSP were 40% below the poverty line, while those receiving 

OW were more than 60% below the poverty line. Both rates fall well within what is considered 

“deep poverty”, or an income 75% of (25% below) the official poverty line. 

As inflation has climbed, the poverty gap has only widened. In September 2022, the current 

provincial government followed through with its campaign promise to raise ODSP rates by 5%. 

While this is a welcome step after a four-year rate freeze, it is still far from adequate. The increase 

will only give single ODSP recipients $59 more per month, nowhere near enough to lift them out of 

deep poverty. 

Meanwhile, those on Ontario Works receive no increase at all. While people receiving Ontario 

Works are considered employable, the abysmally low rates of assistance drive them deeper into 

destitution, making it more and more difficult for them to lift themselves out of poverty. Nowhere 

in Ontario is the $733 per month received by a single person on OW adequate to meet their needs 

for food, shelter, and clothing. It is hardly surprising that homelessness is increasing everywhere in 

our Diocese, with shelters overflowing from Peel to Peterborough and Collingwood to Cobourg, 

while food banks and other food security programs are reporting a huge spike in the numbers of 

people accessing their services for the first time. In 2019, the Daily Bread Food Bank, which 

distributes food to nearly 200 programs in Toronto served 60,000 clients per month across Toronto. 

That number doubled to 120,000 during the pandemic. Now, 182,000 clients use their services 

every month - and if current trends continue, the number is expected to rise to 225,000 by March 

2023.1 

Some ODSP recipients have even sought medical assistance in dying (MAiD) – not because they 

are dying of their disabilities, nor because they do not wish to live, but because their income is too 

meagre to allow them to live with their disabilities in dignity. For such people, the recently 

expanded access to MAiD may at least allow them to die with dignity.2 We recognize that MAiD is 

meant to enhance personal agency and freedom of choice. However, when people who would rather 

live are put in a position where their lives are intolerable to them not because of their condition, but 

because society refuses to provide adequate levels of support, choosing assisted death in such 

circumstances is the 

opposite of a free decision. As Canon Douglas Graydon has noted, this is an indictment against a 

society that has “determined that [disabled people] are not worthy of sufficient resources to ensure 

a quality of life.”3 



  

 

This past summer, the Income Security Advocacy Centre (a branch of Legal Aid Ontario) released 

an open letter calling on the provincial government to double social assistance rates and index them 

to inflation.4 This letter has been endorsed by more than 250 community organizations and social 

service providers, including food banks and legal clinics across the province, faith communities 

such as the Salvation Army and Mennonite Central Committee – Ontario, and coalitions such as the 

Interfaith Social Assistance Reform Coalition (ISARC), of which our Diocese is a member. A 

number of our FaithWorks partner ministries, including the Orillia Christian Centre – Lighthouse 

and the Dam, have also endorsed the letter. 

It is true that doubling the rates of social assistance would present a significant cost outlay. 

However, the provincial government is already in an advantageous financial position. Lower social 

assistance caseloads during the pandemic have resulted in a savings of nearly $800 million for the 

Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services, and the provincial government currently has 

a $2.1 billion surplus.5 The province can thus readily afford a significant increase in social 

assistance rates, if not the full cost of doubling the rates. Moreover, a substantial increase in social 

assistance rates would reduce the externalized costs of poverty – the increased burdens on our 

healthcare, emergency services and criminal justice systems, which Ontarian taxpayers are already 

shouldering. Indeed, even before the pandemic it was conservatively estimated that poverty costs 

Ontario between 27 and 33 billion dollars per year.6 

This year’s Vestry Motion offers our parishes the chance to add our voice to this growing call for 

income support levels that allow people on social assistance to meet their most basic needs. 

This is surely one of our most fundamental obligations as a society. Disabled people on social 

assistance should not be driven to seek “death with dignity” because we fail to provide them with 

enough to live life with dignity. Those who are down on their luck should be supported to rise out 

of poverty rather than pushed deeper into destitution. 

More importantly, it is one of our obligations as followers of Jesus to care for the most vulnerable 

in our society. To fail to respond to the needs of the poor in our midst is to be like the rich man in 

Luke 16, who enjoyed the good things of life while ignoring Lazarus at his gate. We are called 

instead to recognize in our neighbour the face of Christ, and to work together to ensure all have 

enough. 

3 https://anglicanjournal.com/justice-and-the-new-assisted-death-maid-is-now-easier-to-get-should-

anglicans-be-concerned/  

4 https://incomesecurity.org/open-letter-premier-ford-double-social-assistance-rates-now/  

5 https://budget.ontario.ca/2022/fallstatement/pdf/2022-fall-statement-en.pdf. 

6 https://feedontario.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Feed-Ontario-Cost-of-Poverty 
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Why do we present the Vestry Motion? What purpose does it serve? 

Throughout the history of our Diocese, Bishops and other church leaders have spoken out on issues affecting our 

society. Diocesan and Area Bishops regularly communicate with government through letters and meetings, and are 

invited to comment on government budgets and new legislation. Canadian law considers these communications as 

aspects of the Church’s charitable purpose. 

For more than a decade, the diocesan Social Justice and Advocacy Committee has drafted annual Vestry motions 

on concerns with which our Diocese is connected: poverty reduction, affordable housing, care for the environment, 

welcoming refugees, and reconciliation with Indigenous peoples. These motions are non-partisan and the Diocesan 

College of Bishops must approve their final wording before commending them to parishes for consideration. 

When parishes across the Diocese support the Social Justice Vestry motions, it strengthens the Bishops’ voice in 

their advocacy with government. The Vestry motions also serve to inform Anglicans about Diocesan social justice 

concerns. Each year the Social Justice and Advocacy Committee prepares a brief “backgrounder” on the issue at 

hand, which can be used as a bulletin insert. Additional resources are also available. 

Some parishes shy away from presenting a Social Justice Motion at Vestry, seeking to avoid conflict. This may be 

understandable in some contexts. No parish is required to present the motion, and any parish has the ability to alter 

the wording of the motion if this is the will of its Vestry. 

However, the Church cannot be insulated from issues that affect the world God loves. Learning about and speaking 

out on these matters – even learning to disagree well together – is part of the witness we bear to Christ who makes 

all things new. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

      Contributions to St. Johns Dixie, Mississauga 

                 Ways that your contribution can reach us. 
 

 

 

 

Church Administrator: Lori Corbett 

Church office hours: 9:30 – 5:30 p.m. 

Office phone number: 905-277-0462 

Office email address: church@stjohnsdixie.com 

Type of Donation Description  Contact 

   

Cheque or Cash Mailed to the following address: 

St. John the Baptist Anglican 

Church 

719 Dundas Street East,  

Mississauga, ON L4Y 2B5 

If you would like to verify 

receipt, please contact the 

church at  

905-277-0462 or email at  

church@stjohnsdixie.com 

   

Preauthorized Givings or  

PAR program 

Withdrawn from your bank 

account or charged monthly on 

your Visa or Mastercard 

To arrange this please contact 

 Lori Corbett in the church 

office  

Forms are available on the 

tables and in the admin door 

caddie.  

   

Canada Helps Charged to your Visa or 

Mastercard 

Tax receipts are issued by 

Canada Helps. 

You may donate anonymously 

CanadaHelp website at 

www.canadahelps.com and 

search for St. John’s Dixie, 

Mississauga 

   

Interac E – transfers From your on-line banking. Set 

up as a payee for Interac 

transfers. 

Please use the comments to 

indicate envelope # and Specific 

purposes.  No password is 

needed.  

 Email address to send 

to:                                     

church@stjohnsdixie.com 

   

Drop Off Please check to make sure 

someone is available to receive 

our donation. 

 

You may also drop off at the 

cemetery office on weekends and 

after hours. Just call to ensure 

they are open.  

Church 905-277-0462 

 

 

Cemetery 905-566-9403 

http://www.canadahelps.com/
mailto:church@stjohnsdixie.com

